Public Document Pack

A Meeting of the CHILDREN'S SERVICES OVERVIEW
AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE will be held at
Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN Civic
Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BNon TUESDAY
17 JANUARY 2017 AT 7.00 PM

Andy Couldrick
Chief Executive
Published on 9 January 2017

This meeting may be filmed for inclusion on the Council’s
website.
Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog
from this meeting. The use of these images or recordings is
not under the Council’s control.

Our Vision
A great place to live, an even better place to do business

Our Priorities
Improve educational attainment and focus on every child
achieving their potential
Invest in regenerating towns and villages, support social and
economic prosperity, whilst encouraging business growth
Ensure strong sustainable communities that are vibrant and
supported by well designed development
Tackle traffic congestion in specific areas of the Borough
Improve the customer experience when accessing Council
services

The Underpinning Principles
Offer excellent value for your Council Tax
Provide affordable homes
Look after the vulnerable
Improve health, wellbeing and quality of life
Maintain and improve the waste collection, recycling and fuel
efficiency
Deliver quality in all that we do

MEMBERSHIP OF THE CHILDREN'S SERVICES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE
Councillors
Pauline Helliar-Symons
(Chairman)
Richard Dolinski
Bill Soane
Substitutes
Chris Bowring
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey

Shahid Younis (ViceChairman)
Ken Miall
Alison Swaddle

Laura Blumenthal

Kate Haines

Clive Jones

Beth Rowland

Parent Governor Representatives
Vacancy, Parent Governor Representative
Vacancy, Parent Governor Representative
Diocesan Representatives
Vacancy, Roman Catholic Representative
Vacancy, C of E Representative

ITEM
NO.

WARD

SUBJECT

37.

APOLOGIES
To receive any apologies for absence.

38.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting held on 15
November 2016.

39.

DECLARATION OF INTEREST
To receive any declarations of interest.

40.

PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
To answer any public questions
A period of 30 minutes will be allowed for members of
the public to ask questions submitted under notice.
The Council welcomes questions from members of the
public about the work of this committee.

40.1

Arborfield

Subject to meeting certain timescales, questions can
relate to general issues concerned with the work of the
Committee or an item which is on the Agenda for this
meeting. For full details of the procedure for
submitting questions please contact the Democratic
Services Section on the numbers given below or go to
www.wokingham.gov.uk/publicquestions
Gill Purchase has asked the Chairman for Children's

PAGE
NO.

7 - 14

Services Overview & Scrutiny Committee the following
question.
Question
Parents and the public have an absolute right to know
the truth about what made the Coombes go from a
world renowned 'Good' school to one that was classed
as 'Inadequate' by Ofsted in less than two years and
will now have to become an Academy.
Can the Chairman please confirm (the report that has
been presented to this committee this evening) is the
full (unchanged and not edited in any way by either
officers or Member's) version of the investigation
carried by Councillors, led by Cllr John Kaiser,
following their investigation into the failure of the
Coombes school and that there has been complete
transparency in the way this was handled and in the
presentation of the findings and recommendations.
40.2

Sue Glover has asked the Chairman for Children's
Services Overview & Scrutiny Committee the following
question.
Question
The Committee regularly monitors and discusses
indicators around children's care proceedings and
school performance, but there appears to be virtually
no focus on adoption or post adoption support. This is
a vital service that the Local Authority provides, albeit
in a somewhat haphazard way currently. I wonder if
the Committee could/should consider adding an
additional indicator so that it can be fully inclusive of
this area of Children's services and most importantly,
understand how some of the authority's most
vulnerable children are being supported and where
improvements could be made.
For example, is the Committee aware of how many
Wokingham families or children are in contact with
Wokingham requesting post adoption support? Does
the Committee have any feel for how many
applications are being put forward to the Adoption
Support Fund and how this may or may not be
increasing since its inception? And therefore what the
latent demand has been for the provision of support
required in the borough and whether the current level
of support on offer is appropriate? Our recent lengthy
experience of waiting over two years for support must
surely not be acceptable if Wokingham's adopted
children, many suffering from varying degrees of early
life trauma, are to be supported appropriately before

reaching crisis point. Greater focus by the Committee
of this area of children's services provision would be
most welcomed.
41.

MEMBER QUESTION TIME
To answer any member questions

42.

COOMBES SCHOOL TASK AND FINISH GROUP
FINAL REPORT
To receive and analyse the final report and
recommendations of the Coombes School Task and
Finish Group.

15 - 28

43.

REGIONAL ADOPTION AGENCY
To receive and consider a report outlining details of a
proposal to set up a Regional Adoption Agency.

29 - 36

44.

SCHOOL PERFORMANCE AND OFSTED REPORTS
To receive and consider a report containing details of
the Ofsted reports released over the last year and
since the last meeting of the Committee.

37 - 48

45.

WOKINGHAM MULTI ACADEMY TRUST
To receive a report giving an update on the work being
undertaken by the Wokingham Multi Academy Trust
Task and Finish Group.

49 - 70

46.

CHILDREN'S SERVICES PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS
To receive and consider a report giving details of the
Children’s Services key performance indicators.

71 - 80

47.

CAREER CHOICE, GUIDANCE AND TRAINING
OPPORTUNITIES FOR CHILDREN IN THE
BOROUGH
To receive a report outlining the opportunities available
in terms of career for young people in the Borough.

81 - 84

48.

SOCIAL WORKER RECRUITMENT, RETENTION
AND TRAINING STRATEGY
To receive and consider a report containing details of
the Social Worker recruitment, retention and training
strategy.

85 - 90

49.

FORWARD PROGRAMME
To consider the forward programme for the Committee
for the remainder of the municipal year.

91 - 92

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent
A Supplementary Agenda will be issued by the Chief Executive if there are any
other items to consider under this heading

Luciane Bowker
Tel
Email
Postal Address

CONTACT OFFICER
Senior Democratic Services Officer
0118 974 6091
luciane.bowker@wokingham.gov.uk
Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN

Agenda Item 38.
MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE
CHILDREN'S SERVICES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
HELD ON 15 NOVEMBER 2016 FROM 7.00 PM TO 9.22 PM
Committee Members Present
Councillors: Pauline Helliar-Symons (Chairman), Shahid Younis (Vice-Chairman),
Laura Blumenthal, Richard Dolinski, Ken Miall, Beth Rowland, Bill Soane, Alison Swaddle
and Charlotte Haitham Taylor
Other Councillors Present
Councillors: Charlotte Haitham Taylor
Officers Present
Luciane Bowker, Senior Democratic Services Officer
Paul Feven, Interim Head of Strategic Commissioning
Lisa Humphreys, Head of Social Care and Intervention
Judith Ramsden, Director of People Services
Alan Stubbersfield, Interim Assistant Director of Learning and Achievement
25.
APOLOGIES
There were no apologies received.
26.
MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 13 September 2016 were confirmed
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.
27.
DECLARATION OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest.
28.
PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
There were no public questions.
29.
MEMBER QUESTION TIME
There were no Member questions.
30.
CHILDREN'S SERVICES PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
The Committee considered the Children’s Services Performance Indicators report which
was set out in agenda pages 15-24. The Chairman invited Members to put forward their
comments and suggestions relating to this item. The following points were raised during
the discussion:
% Care proceeding completed in 15/16 within 26 weeks of application
 Councillor Rowland asked for clarification on this indicator. Lisa Humphreys, Head of
Social Care and Integration explained that in quarter 2, four care proceedings were
completed past over the 26 week timescale due to further assessment being required
(court discussions). The timetable was controlled by the Court and not the Local
Authority.
% Looked After Children living within 20 miles of Berkshire West
 Lisa Humphreys explained that almost all children who were in long term placements
out of the Borough had exceptional needs. Some of these children had very complex

7

needs and disabilities or mental health issues, for which there were no suitable
specialist centres in Berkshire. For some of the cases there were only a few centres in
the country that were able to cater for this level of need.
Number of schools causing concern
 Councillor Blumenthal was curious to know why there was a target of five schools for
this indicator. Alan Stubbersfield, Interim Assistant Director of Learning and
Achievement endorsed the aspiration to have no schools causing concern. Alan
stated that this indicator was used to identify schools that caused concern and to start
the process to help them;
 Judith Ramsden, Director of People Services confirmed that the target was not
relevant for this indicator, but it was important to anticipate which schools were
causing concern;
 Councillor Rowland suggested that the target should be zero and Officers were in
agreement.
The Chairman stated that the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee would be
reviewing this report at its meeting the following week. The Chairman emphasized that it
was important to have explanations for the red indicators as this was likely to be discussed
at the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee.
Judith Ramsden informed that the red indicator relating to % children who became subject
of a Child Protection Plan (CPP) who are subject to a CPP for a second or subsequent
time within 24 months was due to the quality of audit. This family had been referred when
it did not need to be referred by the early help service. Judith was not concerned about
this as there was a clear understanding of the court measures by Children’s Services.
RESOLVED: That the Children’s Services Performance Indicators be noted.
31.
SCHOOL PERFORMANCE AND NARROWING THE GAP
The Committee considered the School Performance and Narrowing the Gaps; Preliminary
Provisional Data for 2016 report which was set out in agenda pages 25-38.
During the discussion of the item the following comments were made:
 Councillor Miall asked that figures be included in the report as well as percentages to
enable a clearer understanding of the data. Numbers should be provided throughout
the whole report;
 The Chairman endorsed the request for the inclusion of figures and also asked that the
final report in March include types of school (for example free school, academy,
maintained);
 Councillor Younis noted that where the report referred to 50% of special schools, this
related to one school as there were only two special schools in the Borough;
 Councillor Dolinski raised concern about the decline in the GCSE results. Alan
explained that schools were focusing on the new assessment system and not on the
GCSE results. Alan stated that despite this result, Wokingham had the thirteenth best
GCSE result nationally;
 Alan stated that Wokingham secondary schools were in the top 10% of schools in the
country;
 Members were interested to know more about the journey from entry to leaving school.
Alan stated that schools faced a challenging situation when children came from high
attaining primary schools, it was difficult to demonstrate progress;

8




















The Chairman asked for value added figures of KS1 and KS2, Alan agreed to provide
these in the final report;
Councillor Haitham Taylor pointed out that although there may be some variation in
schools results, on the whole most schools had done really well;
Councillor Swaddle asked that where there were references to the national average,
that the figures be included too;
Councillor Soane noted that ‘writing’ was a weak area in Wokingham. He asked if this
issue related to specific schools or to all schools in the Borough. Alan explained that
this was an issue from Early Years to KS2, but not for GCSE level onwards. There
were no concerns over reading, grammar and punctuation. Alan stated that writing
was a key focus and had been improving for the past three years as demonstrated in
the graph on page 30 of the agenda. This was the result of work undertaken with
Early Years to improve writing. Alan informed that nine schools had been identified as
needing improvement in writing and School Improvement Officers were working with
these schools. Alan stated that he had visited schools and that he felt confident that
children’s writing was good, some of the work he saw at years 5 and 6, a few years
ago would have been acceptable at year 8. It was not the case that children could not
write; but their reading and gramma tended to be better. Alan stated that phonics had
achieved a 96% pass test rate, which was much higher than three years ago;
The Chairman asked what could be done in relation to the gap between boys and girls
performance. Alan informed that the following actions were being undertaken by the
Local Authority to tackle the gap:
o Analysing data
o Individualising targets
o Challenging Headteachers
o Looking to use IT to motivate boys
The Chairman noted that most primary schools teachers were women, and this was
not helpful for boys;
Councillor Swaddle asked if boys were taught separately from girls at secondary level.
Alan stated that they were not and that there were mixed reviews on this type of
approach;
Judith Ramsden was more concerned as to why Wokingham girls were not
outperforming their peers nationally;
In response to a question, Judith confirmed that libraries were actively encouraging all
in the community to use their services;
The Chairman asked that the report include the GCSE results of Wokingham children
attending neighbouring authorities schools (for example Yately and Edgbarrow
schools). The Chairman explained that Wokingham Without ward did not have a
Wokingham school as a designated area school;
Councillor Younis felt it would be useful to know the data around GCSE results of boys
and girls. He believed that once boys matured the attainment gap closed but he would
like to see evidence of this;
The Chairman was pleased to note the effort that had been put into narrowing the gap
and the initiatives described in the report;
Councillor Younis asked how Officers ensured that Pupil Premium was used
effectively. Alan stated that there were checks in schools carried out by School
Premium Officers. Judith stated that there were conversations with Headteachers;
Officers evaluated the impact more often than Ofsted, and schools were obliged to
show the audit trail for Pupil Premium;
Councillor Rowland was interested to know if Pupil Premium was used more for
children with English as an additional language or children from other minority groups.

9






Alan explained there was a small number of Black Minority Ethnicity (BME) children in
Wokingham;
Councillor Swaddled stated that school Governors should be able to challenge
Headteachers regarding the use of Pupil Premium. Alan confirmed that Governors
knew that they had to challenge Headteachers and Ofsted reports reflected that;
Alan informed that his team was working with other Local Authorities to reflect on the
best ways to narrow the gap in achievement for the most vulnerable. Wokingham had
a small number of pupils who accessed free school meals, and was sharing this
challenge with similar Local Authorities which Ofsted had recognised as struggling to
narrow gaps consistently;
Judith commented that it was easier for larger authorities in more deprived areas to
demonstrated improvement in narrowing the gap then for smaller authorities in affluent
areas such as Wokingham.

RESOLVED That:
1) The actions identified in the report be supported;
2) Further reports following subsequent national data releases will include the following:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)

Figures throughout the report;
School differentiation (academy, free school, maintained);
Value added figure for KS1 and KS2;
Additional information on Wokingham children attending neighbouring schools;
GCSE results identifying boys and girls attainment;
Information relating to children with English as an additional language and Black
Minority Ethnicity.

32.
SCHOOLS OFSTED REPORTS
The Committee considered the Schools Ofsted Performance report which was set out on
pages 39-64 of the agenda.
The Chairman stated that the table on pages 41-43 was particularly useful, easy to
understand and compare. Alan explained that the comments column were extracts from
the Ofsted reports made in relation to the Local Authority support and intervention. Where
the column was left blank, this was because there were no comments in relation to the
Local Authority.
The Committee discussed the item and following points were made:
Bearwood Primary School – Requires Improvement
 Alan stated that this school was previously rated requires improvement, and had not
yet improved, this was a cause of concern;
 The school had received a preliminary warning letter from the Local Authority;
 Alan felt satisfied that the Headteacher was taking the necessary measures to improve
the school;
 There was now a new Chair of Governors.
Oaklands Junior School – Good
 The Committee was pleased to note that the school continued to be good;
 The Committee noted the Ofsted comment about improvement in value added at the
school;

10



Alan explained that this was a letter to the Headteacher rather than a full report. This
format was used when schools had previously been rated good.

All Saints CofE (Aided) Primary School – Good
 The Committee noted that the school had used the previous inspection result of
requires improvement to make the necessary changes to achieve this positive result;
 It was noted that the Early Years provision was rated outstanding, which was an
excellent result. Alan stated that one individual had made a significant contribution to
this result.
Keep Hatch Primary School – Requires Improvement
 Councillor Younis stated that it was concerning when schools received a requires
improvement Ofsted result as this discouraged parents from applying to those schools;
 Judith stated that it was important to help Headteacher and Governors to be prepared
for Ofsted inspections. The Local Authority had supported a number of schools which
had remained good.
Members emphasized the importance of making sure that schools did not miss out on a
good Ofsted result because of basic mistakes. Alan stated that the School Improvement
Board supported schools to make sure that basic things were not missed.
In response to a question Alan stated that it could take 18 months to turn around a school
and achieve a better Ofsted result.
Judith was curious to know how many Councillors were governors in the local schools.
She stated that there could be a wealth of experience to be added to governing bodies.
Councillor Swaddle state that Members used to be sent a list of governor vacancies. This
would be a way to interest Members in potentially taking up positions as governors.
Councillor Dolinski would like to know how much effort and time had taken to improve
schools, it would be interesting to have a measure.
Judith stated that the Local Authority was always striving to do better, but she had great
confidence in the School Improvement team. In response to a question Judith stated that
there were 4.6 School Improvement Officers in the team. There was currently a vacancy,
the Local Authority bought this services when needed.
Councillor Rowland suggested that the Local Authority encouraged the partnership and
engagement of outstanding Headteachers to share good practices.
Members felt that governors should be strongly encouraged to take up all the training
offered by the Local Authority to enable them to monitor and challenge Headteachers.
The Chairman stated that it would be interesting to compare schools Ofsted results with
governors level of training.
RESOLVED: That the answers to the questions raised during discussion be provided at
the next meeting of the Committee.
33.
POST OFSTED ACTION PLAN AND SIX MONTH SELF-ASSESSMENT PLAN
The Committee considered the report outlining the Ofsted inspection action plan update
which was set out on agenda pages 65 – 76. The Committee was satisfied with the

11

progress made so far and the Chairman thanked Judith Ramsden and her team for all the
work which had been undertaken post Ofsted.
RESOLVED That the report be noted.
34.
EQUALITY SUPPORT FOR YOUNG PEOPLE
The Committee considered the Equalities Support for Young People report which was set
out on agenda pages 77-81.
Councillor Miall stated that although there were some minor details missing, he was
pleased with the strategy proposed in the report.
Alan Stubbersfield explained that the strategy was going to be communicated to schools.
RESOLVED That the report be noted.
35.
FORWARD PROGRAMME
The Committee considered its forward programme for the remainder of the municipal year.
The following items were added to the programme:
17 January 2017
 Answers to the questions raised during the meeting
 Social Worker recruitment and retention strategy update / approach on Social
Worker training
 Pathways to learning – Post 16 education - Career choice and guidance / training
opportunities for children in the Borough
 Wokingham Multi Academy Trust update
21 March 2017
 Practice framework of Children’s Services update
 21 Century Council New structure – changes for Children’s Services
It was agreed that the Corporate Parenting Board annual report and the Wokingham
Safeguarding Children’s Board annual report would be discussed in the May 2017
meeting.
36.

EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

RESOLVED: That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public
be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that they
involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of
Schedule 12A of the Act as appropriate.
37.
SOUTHFIELD SPECIAL SCHOOL
The Committee considered an exempt update report relating to Southfield Special School.
Members wanted to know if the Local Authority had done enough to prevent the school
from going into special measures, and how the Local Authority was helping the school to
improve. Judith Ramsden stated that the Children’s Services School Improvement Team
had become more robust in the last two years. Judith confirmed that Children’s Services

12

had been aware of issues in the school and going forward the Local Authority intended to
make more use of pre-warning letters.
Members discussed the idea of being notified of any schools causing concern that had
been issued with a pre-warning notice. Judith explained that as part of the process, the
Executive Member for Children’s Services was regularly briefed on the schools that were
causing concern. There were confidentially issues around underperforming schools, so if
this was to be reported to Overview and Scrutiny, it should be under a part 2 session.
The Chairman asked that once the investigation was finalised, the Committee receive an
update on what lessons were learnt from the whole process.
RESOLVED That
1) a report containing the lessons learnt from the Southfields Special School failings be
brought to Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee for review;
2) a regular part 2 reports listing schools causing concern be sent to Children’s Services
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

13

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 42.
CHILDREN’S SERVICES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

COOMBES SCHOOL
TASK AND FINISH GROUP

REPORT AND RECOMMENDATIONS

JANUARY 2017

Task and Finish Group Members:
Councillor John Kaiser (Chairman)
Councillor Pauline Helliar-Symons (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Gary Cowan
Councillor Richard Dolinski
Councillor Lindsay Ferris
Councillor Shahid Younis

15

1

CONTENTS
Section 1

Introduction and Background to the
Review

3

Section 2

Terms of Reference for the Review

4

Section 3

Overall Review Conclusions

5-9

Section 4

Recommendations

10

Appendix 1

Summary of Ofsted Findings

12

Appendix 2

List of Witnesses

13

Appendix 3

List of background information provided
to the Task and Finish Group

13

16

2

Section 1

Introduction and Background to the Review

The Coombes School Task and Finish Group was set up by the Children’s Services
Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 28 June 2016. The Coombes School
was rated ‘inadequate’ by the Ofsted inspection which took place on 17-18 May 2016.
This result triggered the process to turn the school into an academy. A summary of the
findings from the Ofsted inspection is set out at Appendix 1.
The Coombes Church of England Primary School opened on 1 September 2008 and is the
result of the amalgamation of The Coombes Infant and Nursery School (founded in 1971)
and Arborfield Newland & Barkham CE Junior School (founded in 1863). Children are
drawn from the villages of Arborfield and Barkham, including Arborfield Garrison and the
many new housing developments in our area.
The school is larger than the average primary school with 550 pupils on the school roll at
the time of the Ofsted inspection. The school has relatively few disadvantaged pupils and
the proportion of pupils from minority ethnic groups is below the national average. Few
pupils speak English as an additional language and the proportion of pupils with special
educational needs or disability is also below the national average.
The Coombes School had been rated ‘good’ at its previous inspection in September 2011.
The Group wanted to understand how a school that was highly regarded by the community
and external inspectors had fallen into special measures.
There was concern that the relevant local ward Member was not informed at an early
stage that the school was in danger of not achieving a good Ofsted result. Members felt
that it was possible that the local ward Member may have been able to intervene positively
for a better outcome for the school.
The Group wanted to discover how the events unfolded leading to this unsatisfactory
result. The Group’s aim was to prevent the same situation from happening to other
schools in the Borough.
There were a number of questions to be answered, but in particular the Committee wanted
to find out:
 What the Local Authority’s involvement with the school was?
 What could have been done to prevent this situation?
 Why weren’t the relevant local ward Members informed at an earlier stage that the
school was underachieving and at risk of being rated ‘inadequate’?
The Task and Finish Group had its first meeting on 3 August 2016. At that meeting the
Group agreed: the terms of reference; the dates of future meetings; the witnesses to be
called and the questions to be asked.
The Group held six meetings:
 3 August 2016
 18 August 2016
 21 September 2016
 5 October 2016

17

3




20 October 2016
16 November 2016

Section 2

Terms of Reference for the Review

Purpose of Review:
1.

To identify the reasons that led to the Coombes School’s current situation.

2.

To identify the Local Authority’s level of involvement with the school and to find
out what could have been done to avoid the current situation.

3.

To identify what lessons can be learnt to prevent the same happening to other
schools in the Borough.

4.

To propose that a mechanism is developed to keep local ward Members
informed if a school in their ward is in danger of falling standards.

Key Objectives:
1.

To understand the events and the reasons that led the Coombes School to its
Ofsted inspection result of ‘Inadequate’.

2.

To find out how the Local Authority supported the school or how it could have
supported the school to prevent the unsatisfactory Ofsted result.

3.

To prevent what happened to the Coombes School from happening to other
schools.

4.

To develop a system to keep local ward Members informed of the schools’
performance in their ward, in particular early warning if a particular school is in
danger of underperforming.

SPECIFIC QUESTIONS FOR THE TASK AND FINISH GROUP TO ADDRESS:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.

Who appointed the Headteachers and did they know about the appointees’
records?
Did the Governors consult the Local Authority during the process of appointing
Headteachers?
Were any of the appointments based on recommendations?
What influence does the Local Authority have in appointing Headteachers in
local schools?
If the Local Authority gave advice, did the school take it?
What degree of help can the Local Authority offer a struggling school?
Details of the recruitment process.
What training is offered by the Local Authority to Governing Bodies?
Did the Governing Body at the Coombes take the training offered?
What is the leadership structure of the school?
What is each leader’s responsibility?

18

4

12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.

How long have the Governors been on the Board? Particularly the Chair of
Governors?
Are any of the Governors appointed by the Local Authority?
Does the Coombes Governing Body belong to the association of Governors?
Is there a programme for recruiting Governors?
How did the school use the Pupil Premium funding for disadvantaged pupils?
Why did the school employ a consultant Headteacher instead of an interim
Headteacher?
What efforts were made to appoint a permanent Headteacher?
Why was the deputy Headteacher not considered for the job?
Did the school engage with a school improvement partner since its last
inspection?

Section 3

Overall Review Conclusions

3.1

Headteacher Recruitment

Following their investigations the Group concluded that the Headteacher recruitment
process could be strengthened. The Local Authority should draw up a ‘Headteacher
Recruitment Guideline’ to help governing bodies through the recruitment process. The
Coombes School’s governors had used an agency to recruit Headteachers. However, the
agency failed to report to the governors that one of the interim Headteachers had
previously worked at a failing school. As a result the Group recommends that governors
be advised to check references and not rely solely on agencies. A follow-up telephone call
should be made to confirm references before any formal appointment is made.
The Group found that it was confusing to have titles such as ‘executive’ or ‘consultant’
Headteacher. These titles created uncertainty as to who was leading the school. It was
important to establish a clear line of leadership that did not cause any confusion. The
interim Headteacher must assume the responsibility for leading the school during an
inspection as a part of their role and this must be made clear at the time of appointment.
The Group felt that the lack of a suitable permanent full time Headteacher for a prolonged
period of time was the main reason for the Coombes School’s deterioration.
Partnership arrangements with other schools should be actively encouraged, especially
when a school is failing to recruit senior staff and failing to meet targets.
3.2

Local Authority’s Involvement

The Government is encouraging schools to be more autonomous by becoming academies.
Although the Local Authority has limited powers in relation to academies, it has overall
responsibility for the educational outcomes for children in the Borough. The Local Authority
also plays a role in promoting good Ofsted results.
The Group was informed that the Local Authority has the power to issue a Warning Notice;
this is a statutory vehicle which triggers intervention by the Local Authority. Should a
warning notice be issued, Ofsted would have to be informed. A warning notice has the
same powers as Ofsted and would overtake the management of the school from the
governors.

19

5

It was revealed that an initial ‘pre-warning notice’ had been issued to the Coombes School
by the Local Authority (Wokingham Borough Council) in 2014. However, the Headteacher
at the time did not share this information with the governing body. That had been the first
indication that the school was underperforming. The Group recommends that, when
issuing such notices, the Local Authority should send letters to the chair of governors,
governors, Headteacher, church representative and local ward Member/s. These letters
should be sent to home addresses to avoid the risk of them not reaching their intended
recipients.
The school received another pre-warning notice in 2015. It appears that the Council
officers involved in the issue of the 2nd pre-warning letter were not aware of the previous
letter. The 2nd letter was issued when budget deficits in targets were identified. The Local
Authority regularly held School Improvement Board meetings where schools were
monitored according to their performance. Once the Local Authority established that the
Coombes was underachieving and ‘required improvement’ a School Improvement Officer
started to support the school by spending one day a week at the school.
The Group was informed that a School Improvement Board was set up to discuss ways to
improve the school.
Due to the fact that school underperformance is a sensitive issue, it is common practice to
keep it confidential. However, the Group decided that it is important that the Children’s
Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee be informed as soon as a school starts to
cause concern. The Group recommends that this information be shared with the relevant
local ward Member/s with an invitation for him/her to attend the Committee meeting for
discussion. Such discussions would be treated as confidential and discussed in Part 2
session.
It was noted throughout the investigations that the Local Authority had given support to the
school. The school valued the help that was given to them by different Officers from the
Council. However, the Group concluded that more clarity around the role of the School
Improvement Officer was necessary. The Group could not identify a coherent plan/strategy
for improvement from the Local Authority. It was not clear what impact, if any, the School
Improvement Officer had on the school’s overall performance.
The Ofsted inspection report stated:
“The Local Authority recognised that the school needed significant support and put in
place an improvement board to hold the leaders and governors to account. However, the
Local Authority has been too optimistic about the impact of the recent change in
leadership”.
3.3

Governors

The Group was informed that the governing body at the Coombes had undertaken all the
necessary training that was available through Wokingham Borough Council.
The Chair of Governors had additionally undertaken the National College for Teaching and
Leadership - Chair of Governors Leadership Development Programme (September 2013 certificate issued), sponsored by Wokingham Borough Council.

20

6

The Group was informed that a meeting had taken place at Wokingham Borough Council
with the Chair of Governors from the Coombes, the Chair of Governors from Whiteknights
Primary School, Alan Stubbersfield (Interim Head of Learning and Achievement), Gill
Walker (School Improvement Officer) and Francois Walker (Consultant Headteacher). The
purpose of this meeting was to attempt to agree a working arrangement for Francois
Walker to continue working at both schools. The Group was concerned that no minutes
were taken at this meeting.
The Group noted that the governors were committed and passionate about the school and
wanted the school to perform well. However, it was not clear whether the governing body
had the necessary skills to understand what the current Ofsted requirements were.
The Ofsted inspection report stated:
“Despite taking some steps to improve, the governing body is not effective. For example,
governors have not ensured that the pupil premium funding has been spent well.
Furthermore the quality of teaching and learning has declined because the governors have
not developed a clear strategy for improvement to smooth the transition of successive
school leaders. Although governors visit the school and ask leaders some questions, they
do not hold leaders to account enough. This is because governors do not have an
accurate understanding of the school’s effectiveness. Not all governors show that they
understand pupils’ progress information well enough.”
It was reported to the Group that the governors had been reluctant to accept that the
school required improvement. There was a belief that the Coombes ‘culture’ had to be
preserved. This resistance to modernise meant the school did not keep up with the
changes in the educational system and no longer satisfied the stricter current Ofsted
requirements.
Members were informed that the governors tended to use business comparisons rather
than educational outcomes and had not fully appreciated how serious the situation was.
The Group agreed with the view that the governors’ role in a school should be strategic
and not operational. It was not clear from the investigation if this was the case at the
Coombes School.

3.4

Coombes School - Headteacher Timeline

Sept 2008 – April 2010
Amalgamation
April 2010 – April 2014

Sue Rowe Headteacher

2013/2014

Neil Lyddiatt Acting Headteacher – previously Deputy
Headteacher
Matt Dickson Interim Headteacher

2014/2015
Summer 2015
July 2015

Patrick Pritchett – Acting Headteacher until his formal
appointment in February 2011

Francois Walker (Whiteknights School) began supporting the
school
Marion Standing Interim Headteacher – Francois Walker
continued supporting the school

21

7

December 2015

Marion Standing left and Francois Walker appointed
Consultant Head effective January 2016 for two terms

Following inspection in
June 2016

Charlie Morris Interim Head – contract until July 2017

Note: Throughout this period Neil Lyddiatt was the deputy Headteacher or acting
Headteacher.
A period of turbulence at the school began when the school failed to secure a permanent
full time Headteacher following Patrick Pritchett’s departure in April 2014. During the
subsequent two year period (running up to the Ofsted inspection in May 2016) the Group
were informed of a number of issues at the school, including:






Challenging working relationships between one of the Interim Headteachers and the
governors;
Difficulties in implementing improvement measures;
A lack of clear direction and support for teachers at the school;
Increased levels of anxiety and sickness amongst teaching staff;
Experienced teachers leaving the school to take up other posts.

The Ofsted inspection report stated:
“There has been much turbulence in leadership for the past two years. Some important
national developments have not been implemented in the school. Governors have had no
strategy to secure improvements. Consequently, the quality of teaching has declined
significantly”.
Francois Walker was brought in as a consultant Head teacher on a temporary basis,
sharing his time between the Coombes and Whiteknights. Francois was able to identify
what needed to be done at the school. Staff, governors and the Local Authority had
confidence in his leadership. It was believed that because he was also an Ofsted
inspector, he would be able to prepare the school for the imminent inspection.
Francois’ first task was to ensure that staff safeguarding training was up to date. The
Group was informed that staff had not received any safeguarding training for three years.
The Coombes was unable to secure an extension to Francois’ contract partnership
arrangement with Whiteknights. One of the main criticisms of the Ofsted report was the
lack of secure leadership. It was possible that, if a permanent Headteacher with a clear
vision for the school had been in place, the Ofsted result would have been more positive.
The Group was informed that the school was advised by Francois Walker to seek a
partner school to secure an Executive Headteacher prior to the Ofsted inspection, but the
governors did not act upon this advice. The Group noted that Francois Walker’s work with
Ofsted prevented him from being associated with a failing school and that this made it
difficult for Francois to lead the school effectively through the Ofsted inspection.
After the inspection Francois Walker left the school to be replaced by Charlie Morris in the
role of Interim Headteacher. Charlie identified a number of problem areas that needed
improving in the school:

22

8





Weak teaching
Weak senior and middle management
Passive children/uninspiring classes.

Charlie Morris reported that a significant number of teachers had left the school and it had
been a challenge to recruit new staff. In Charlie’s view there was a unique charm about
the school, but it was absolutely necessary to modernise and eradicate certain practices.
Charlie’s contract runs until July 2017 and the school is still seeking to recruit a permanent
Headteacher. The school is now looking to join an academy trust. It is possible that a trust
will be able to secure a permanent Headteacher for the school.
Throughout this period Neil Lyddiatt was either Deputy Headteacher or acting
Headteacher. Neil is well respected by staff and governors at the school having given
many years of excellent service. All the Headteachers spoke highly of him and he has the
support of the majority of parents. Neil informed the Group that he recognised that
changes were needed to bring the school up to date with the current Ofsted requirements.
3.5

Ofsted Inspection

It is evident from the various interviews that the school was not fully prepared for the
Ofsted inspection. The school staff were not trained for an Ofsted inspection and secure
leadership was not in place. A significant issue was the fact that data was not readily
available when Ofsted requested it.
It seems that the governors, school staff and the Local Authority all relied on Francois
Walker to prepare the school for the inspection. However, for the reasons outlined above,
when this did not happen, no-one was able to intervene. The Local Authority allocated
School Improvement Officer seemed to be unaware that this was the case until after the
inspection was over.
The Group noted that, as highlighted above, one of the main criticisms in the report was
the lack of secure leadership for the school. The Ofsted inspection report stated:
“Frequent changes to leadership have meant that teachers have not received adequate
feedback or direction to enable the quality of teaching to improve. Instability in staffing has
led to pupils’ learning being disrupted. Consequently, pupils across the school are making
slow progress.”
Once the school was rated ‘inadequate’, the management of the school was taken away
from the governors and an Interim Executive Board (IEB) was formed. An IEB is a small
body appointed on a short term basis by the Department for Education with the aim of
turning around a school that is judged to be in urgent need of improvement. None of the
former governors is a member the IEB. The school is currently seeking to join a trust in
order to become an academy.

23

9

Recommendations to the Council’s Executive

Section 4

1. That the Children’s Services team develop an action plan to address the
learning points arising out of the Task and Finish Group report and the Ofsted
inspection of the Coombes Primary school in 2016.
2. That the action plan be submitted to the Children’s Services Overview and
Scrutiny Committee for consideration and be reviewed at future meetings of the
Committee.
3. That the Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee review the role
of the Council’s School Improvement Officers, to gain a better understanding
and to discuss measures to improve communication and liaison with ward
Members.
4. That any plans/strategies developed by School Improvement Officers be agreed
by school management, governors and the Local Authority and be reported to
the Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, such plans to be
monitored and reported together with follow up actions.
5. That any relevant reports from the Local Authority, especially reports from the
School Improvement Officer, be circulated to the home address of:





All governors
Headteacher
Church representative
Local ward Members.

6. That once a school receives a preliminary warning letter, a report and a copy of
the warning letter be sent immediately to:




The Executive Member for Children’s Services and his/her Deputy;
The Chairman and Vice-chairman of the Children’s Services Overview and
Scrutiny Committee;
The local ward Member/s.

7. That a regular report be submitted to the Children’s Services Overview and
Scrutiny Committee and the relevant local ward Member/s on the progress of
any school that has received a preliminary warning letter from the Local
Authority or has gone into special measures following an Ofsted inspection. The
local ward Member/s also to be invited to attend the Committee meeting at
which the matter would be discussed;
8. That school governing bodies be encouraged to follow the National College for
School Leadership guide to recruiting and selecting Headteachers.
9. That school governing bodies be encouraged to adopt a more robust
Headteacher recruitment process, including a telephone call from the Chair of
Governors to follow up references with any such contact being evidenced in
writing;

24

10

10. That the Children’s Services team develop and adopt guidelines for governors to
follow in regard to Headteacher recruitment.
11. That school governing bodies be encouraged to ensure that no candidate who
has a potential conflict of interest be appointed to a Headteacher role, on a full
time or interim basis.
12. That, when a Headteacher, temporary or full time, is appointed he/she must be
able to commit to taking overall responsibility for the school before and during an
Ofsted inspection (whether this be a consultant, executive, interim or acting
Headteacher role).
13. That, to avoid confusion, the Children’s Services team develop and circulate a
clear definition of the different designations of Headteachers, i.e:





consultant
interim
executive
acting.

14. That all meetings that involve Local Authority Officers, Governors and
Headteachers must have minutes taken.
15. That the Local Authority ensures that child protection procedures and
safeguarding training in schools are up to date.
16. That schools be encouraged to develop a clear line of leadership responsibility
with regards to the strategic and operational aspects of the school.
17. That school governors be encouraged to attend training to ensure they clearly
understand Ofsted’s latest requirements and are better able to hold school
leaders to account.

25

11

Appendix 1 - Summary of Ofsted Findings


There has been much turbulence in leadership for the past two years. Some important
national developments have not been implemented in the school. Governors have had
no strategy to secure improvements. Consequently, the quality of teaching has
declined significantly.



Not enough pupils across the school are making expected progress in English and
mathematics. The curriculum is inadequate and teachers’ expectations of pupils are
not high enough.



Teachers’ assessments of pupils are not accurate as they do not have a thorough
understanding of the national curriculum.



Lessons do not enable pupils of different abilities and groups to succeed. Teachers do
not use their knowledge of pupils to plan suitably challenging tasks.



Children in the early years are not making enough progress because teaching does
not effectively promote learning. Activities in the indoor and outdoor provision do not
cover all of the areas of learning.



Disadvantaged pupils underachieve. Leaders have not spent the pupil premium
effectively.



Leaders have not identified the most able pupils. No provision is made for this group.



Pupils who have special educational needs or disability make even less progress than
other pupils. Extra support is not effective.



Equal opportunities are not well promoted. Pupils do not have equal chances to
achieve.



Governors and some leaders have an inaccurate understanding of the school’s
effectiveness. They do not understand pupils’ progress information well enough so
they cannot use this to hold others to account.



Opportunities to develop pupils’ social, moral, spiritual and cultural understanding and
knowledge of British values are not embedded. Pupils are not well prepared for life in
modern Britain.



Not all adults are applying the new expectations of pupils’ behaviour well enough.

The school has the following strengths:


The consultant headteacher has recently introduced important changes and helpful
new systems. It is too early to see the impact of these.

26

12



Relationships between adults and pupils are strong. Safeguarding is effective because
adults’ prioritise pupils’ welfare.

Appendix 2 – List of Witnesses
Witness

Meeting



Alan Stubbersfield, Interim Head of Learning and
Achievement



Carole Craven, Chair of Governors




Francois Walker, Consultant Headteacher
Charlie Morris, Interim Head teacher

5 October 2016



Neil Lyddiatt, Deputy Headteacher and Acting
Headteacher
Gill Walker, School Improvement Officer

20 October 2016



18 August 2016

21 September 2016

Appendix 3 - List of Background Information Provided to the Task and Finish Group
1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
6)
7)

Headteacher Timeline.
Governing Body Composition and Length of Service.
Email from Vicky Lewendon, Governor Services Manager.
Minutes of Governing Body’s meetings.
Minutes of Children and Learning Committee Meetings.
Minutes of Strategy and Planning Committee.
Various documents supplied by Carole Craven:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)
i)
j)
k)
l)
m)

Email correspondence regarding letter of concern
Headteacher Performance Management Planning
Headteacher Recruitment meeting
Newsletter to parents
Planning Improvement Plan
Candidates timetable
Parents and the Community Panel Questions
Leadership and Management Panel Questions
Teaching and Learning Panel Questions
Consultation Response
Factual accuracy check
Coombes 2015 Inspection Dashboard
Leadership summary 2016.

8) Email from Francois Walker to Carole Craven dated 8 May 2016.

27

13

Please note that some of these background documents may contain exempt information
and, therefore, may not be publicly available.

28

14

Agenda Item 43.
TITLE

Regional Adoption Agency

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Overview and Scrutiny Children’s Services
on 17 January 2017

WARD

None Specific

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR

Judith Ramsden, Director of People Services

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY



Improvements to adoption services for both children and adopters.
Excellent value for money.

RECOMMENDATION
Overview and Scrutiny is recommended to:
1)

support Wokingham’s shared service arrangements being extended to become
Adopt Thames Valley Regional Adoption Agency. The new shared service is to
be hosted by Oxfordshire County Council, with a base for Berkshire in
Wokingham;

2)

delegate the final decision on details to the Director of People Services and Lead
Member for Children’s Services;

3)

support the Lead member for Children’s Services being a member of the new
governance board.

SUMMARY OF REPORT
This report provides an overview of plans to set up a Regional Adoption Agency (RAA)
across the Thames Valley Region. It describes the legislative framework, potential
benefits for children and families and the planned timetable for setting up the RAA. The
purpose of the report is to secure in principle, support for Wokingham joining the RAA.

1. Background
In June 2015 the Government published a paper titled Regionalising Adoption, it set out
provision for the creation of Regional Adoption Agencies(RAA). An RAA is a service
delivering adoption services across multiple local authority areas. The RAA guidance
specifically refers to recruiting, matching and supporting of adopters. RAAs will also
include voluntary adoption agencies as partners. There is no definitive expectation on

29

1

the type of organisation that will deliver the RAA functions, but guidance referred to four
potential models, they are:





Local authority shared service
Local authority owned company
Joint venture between local authorities and voluntary adoption agencies
Commissioned service (outsourced to a VAA)

The Government have stated that they expect every local authority to be part of an RAA
or to have delegated their adoption functions to one by 2020. They have also said that
they will use the powers of the Education and Adoption Act 2016 to require authorities to
do this from 2017 if insufficient progress is being made towards this aim.
There are many good reasons for joining an RAA beyond the threat of compulsion that
has been set out by government. It also seems likely that local authorities who are
involved in the setting up and design of RAAs will have more influence and control over
the destiny of their adoption services than those who choose to leave it until later.
2. Developing Adopt Thames Valley
Adopt Thames Valley (ATV) is being developed with the support of the Department for
Education (DfE). They have granted funding to assist the partner organisations to work
together to develop a new service that delivers both better outcomes for children and
adopters whilst also reducing costs for the local authorities participating.
Adopt Thames Valley is building on work carried out by four of the participating local
authorities (Bracknell Forest, West Berkshire, Windsor and Maidenhead and
Wokingham). In 2014 Adopt Berkshire was set up, it is a shared service hosted by
Windsor and Maidenhead delivering adoption services on behalf of all four authorities.
This has been successful in promoting positive outcomes for children, external
validation (Wokingham received a Good judgement for adoption from Ofsted in 2015)
and has delivered savings. Adopt Berkshire is a good demonstration that the concept of
shared and joined up adoption services works. The DfE have cited Adopt Berkshire as
an example of good practice, but also indicated that it is too small to constitute an RAA.
The plan is to develop ATV as a shared service partnership between seven local
authorities (Bracknell Forest, Oxfordshire, West Berkshire, Windsor and Maidenhead,
Wokingham, Swindon and Reading) along with two Voluntary Adoption Agencies (PACT
and Barnardos). The local authorities and voluntary adoption agencies are working to
develop the new service, it will provide adoption services across the geographical area
of the participating local authorities. Following the completion of a recent due diligence
process it has been agreed that Oxfordshire will be the host authority for ATV.
The development of Adopt Thames Valley is being overseen by a project with
representation at DCS or Assistant Director Level for each of the participating
authorities, It is envisaged that when the service becomes operational the membership
of this group will be expanded to include other key stakeholders (e.g. lead members)
and will be responsible for the governance of Adopt Thames Valley. The project is also
being developed with significant involvement from frontline adoption staff and managers.

30

2

During October and November Adopt Thames Valley invited expressions of interest
from participating authorities for hosting the new service and completed an extensive
due diligence process. Oxfordshire County Council were the only authority to put
themselves forward and we closely scrutinised through the due diligence process. This
culminated in a meeting on the 7th November 2016 with local authority Chief Executives,
Directors of Children’s Services and Lead Members. On completion of the due diligence
process there was unanimous support for Oxfordshire hosting Adopt Thames Valley.
Following on from this Oxfordshire have mobilised a team including a dedicated project
manager and appropriate service leads (e.g. HR, legal, ICT, Communications etc.) to
take the project forward.
The service specification, team structure and funding mechanism for the new service
are being developed at present. The ATV board have already agreed the following
principles for the:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

No overall increase in spend
Interagency fees will be abolished between participating local authorities
The funding mechanism must be acceptable to all participating local authorities
The funding mechanism must be acceptable to the host authority (Oxfordshire)
It must transparent open and based on published data
Services not included will be explicitly identified (e.g. Adoption Allowances)
Individual contributions will not subsidise each other (smoothing costs across years
acceptable as adoption activity is very volatile in small authorities)

The funding mechanism and service specification will be finalised early in 2017.
All of the local authorities are currently working to obtain political agreement to setting
up ATV, it is anticipated that this will be completed early in 2017.
Following completion of this work detailed plans for the service will be developed
(including; budget, staffing structure, premises and governance arrangements). It is
anticipated that the new service will build on the strengths of Adopt Berkshire (e.g.
Wokingham based office) and will include a combination of senior officers and elected
members in the governance arrangements.
3. Potential Benefits and Risks of Adopt Thames Valley
In summary the key anticipated benefits of the Adopt Thames Valley model are:







improved outcomes for children through the availability of a larger pool of adopters
improved ability to place harder to place children for adoption (e.g. older children,
children with disabilities, sibling groups and black or minority ethnic children)
improved experience for adopters through quicker matches with children who need
placements
better value for local authorities through economies of scale in the recruitment and
assessment process for adopters
potential savings for local authorities through placing children with adopters more
quickly (i.e. saving foster care costs)
improved adoption support services across a wider geographical area.

31

3

The project is not without risks. Whilst the larger scale presents opportunities for more
efficient and effective adoption services there will also be challenges created by working
across a wider geographic area with a diverse group of local authorities. These risks
are being managed through robust project management and a strong governance
structure overseeing the development of the new service.
Work started on ATV in December 2015, over the duration of the project there have
been some significant changes. We now have a group of local authorities and voluntary
adoption agencies that are committed to the project. We are currently in negotiations
with the Department for Education to finalise funding through to Autumn 2017 when we
envisage the new service will become operational. Some of the key activities and events
in the planned timeline are set out below:






November 2016 to January 2017 – Local Authority Partners to secure political
commitment to joining the new service
Spring 2017 - Formal consultation with staff affected by the setting up of the new
service
Spring 2017 – Logistical arrangements for new service finalised
Early Summer 2017 - Staffing arrangements for Adopt Thames Valley finalised
September 2017 - Adopt Thames Valley becomes operational

4. Analysis of Issues
Options Available to Wokingham
No Change
The Government has said on a number of occasions that it expects all local authorities
to be part of a RAA by the year 2020. This aspiration was first set out in ‘Regionalising
Adoption’ (June 2015). It was reiterated by Edward Timpson in a speech in February
2016 and also referenced in ‘Adoption – Agenda for Change’ (March 2016). The
government has also enacted legislation enabling them to intervene to determine how
individual local authorities provide adoption services. In light of these statements and
actions it would seem unlikely that maintaining the current situation would be viable in
the longer term. This commitment has also been re-iterated following the change in
government after the vote to leave the European Union.
Join an Alternative Regional Adoption Agency
Adopt Thames Valley is one of nineteen RAA projects that are being set up nationally.
The option exists to approach other projects with a view to joining them as an
alternative. We adjudge ATV to be the best option for Wokingham at present for three
main reasons. Firstly Wokingham is geographically well placed within ATV, which is
potentially advantageous in terms of identifying suitable placements in reasonable
travelling distance. Secondly the shared service model currently being proposed
maintains flexibility going forward, some other RAAs are developing organisations and
structures that would be more difficult to influence or adapt once set up (e.g. joint mutual
ventures or services wholly delivered through commissioned approach). Thirdly the
other three Adopt Berkshire authorities are planning to join ATV and this will enable us
to continue to work together and build on the improvements already made. Joining

32

4

another RAA would not enable us to be involved in the design of the new service and it
is also very unlikely that we would continue to have a team based in Wokingham.
5. Implications for Wokingham Children and Residents
Adoption is a small, but critical element of our children’s services. For Looked After
children who are unable to return home to their birth family or other relatives adoption
provides permanence and security. At present we have 82 looked after children of which
16 are aged under 10 (adoption is rarely an option for children older than 10). Since
2011/12 we have used adoption for an average of 4 children each year (varying from 2
to 5). The changes described in this report will also affect people wishing to adopt who
live in our area, over recent years between 0 and 6 children have been placed with
Wokingham adopters.
The creation of Adopt Thames Valley will not remove our corporate parenting
responsibilities for children who need adoption. We will continue to ensure appropriate
adoption plans are agreed for Wokingham children through the scrutiny of Agency
Decision Maker (ADM). The ADM role is fulfilled by the Assistant Director. We will also
take a very active role in the governance and performance management of ATV when it
starts to deliver services.
A central aim of Adopt Thames Valley will be to improve adoption support. This is critical
for both children and adopters. Adoption support improvements will extend to families
who live in Wokingham who have adopted through other local authorities or voluntary
adoption agency. Good quality adoption support is important the life chances of adopted
children and the wellbeing of adopters. It can also be an important factor in avoiding
other high costs interventions.
6. Governance
Adopt Thames Valley will have a governance board that will include representation from
all partner organisation. Oxfordshire will be hosting the service, but all local authorities
will have an influence in the design and running of the new organisation. Our experience
of, and key role in the development of the Adopt Berkshire will ensure that we are able
to make a valuable contribution to this important element of the project. The governance
structure will include both officers and members and we are proposing that the
Wokingham Lead Member should be a member of the governance structure as soon as
it is established.
7. Conclusion
Wokingham stopped directly providing most adoption services in December 2014 when
Adopt Berkshire was set up. The creation of Adopt Thames Valley represents a logical
development that will enable adoption services to be even more effective and efficient.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION

33

5

The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a
result of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and
subsequent reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that
Wokingham Borough Council will be required to make budget reductions in
excess of £20m over the next three years and all Executive decisions should
be made in this context.

How much
will it Cost/
(Save)
Current
Financial Year
(Year 1)
Next Financial
Year (Year 2)
Following
Financial Year
(Year 3)

Anticipated
cost neutral
Anticipated
cost neutral
Anticipated
cost neutral

Is there sufficient
funding
– if not quantify the
Shortfall
Sufficient funding

Revenue or Capital?

Sufficient funding

Revenue

Sufficient funding

Revenue

Revenue

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
The existing budget for the Adoption services to transfer to Adopt Thames
Valley is £320,000.
The cost of the new service has yet to be finalised, but it will not be more than
our existing adoption spend commitment. The new service is being developed
using a zero based budget approach and costs will be apportioned relative to
use of the service.
There is potential for savings in alternative foster care costs from improved
performance and placing children with adopters more quickly.
The DfE are providing grant for set-up costs.
Cross-Council Implications (how does this decision impact on other Council
services and priorities?)
Property – The Adopt Berkshire Service is currently hosted by Windsor and
Maidenhead, but operates from Wokingham Borough Council Offices in
Hurricane Way Woodley. It is planned that services will continue to be provided
from the Hurricane Way Offices.
Priorities
Improve educational attainment and focus on every child achieving their
potential
Adoption enables children who are unable to live with their birth parents or wider
family to have the best possible chance of achieving their potential in education
and succeeding in other areas of their lives. Joining ATV will help to ensure this

34

6

option is open to children in Wokingham who need it.
Improve the customer experience when accessing services
Adopt Thames Valley will have a strong customer focus and bringing together a
group of local authorities will help to enhance the services for both adopters and
children. The larger scale of the agency will reduce waiting times and help to
maximise the chances of matches being made between children and adopters.

List of Background Papers
DFE Rationalising Adoption June 2015
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/43712
8/Regionalising_adoption.pdf
Service Children’s Services
Contact Lisa Humphreys
Telephone No 0118 974 6055

Email
Judith.ramsden@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No. 1

Date 6 January 2017

35

7

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 44.
TITLE

Schools Ofsted Performance

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Children’s
Services
Overview
Committee on 17 January 2017

WARD

Non Specific

DIRECTOR

Judith Ramsden, Director of People Services

and

Scrutiny

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
To monitor schools’ effectiveness and the Local Authority contribution.

RECOMMENDATION
Members to question the content of the reports and to make recommendations.

SUMMARY OF REPORT
To review the recent Ofsted judgements and the Ofsted outcomes over the past year
noting the comments on Local Authority support.
The report provides the usual summary of pages of recent Ofsted reports for discussion at the
meeting in addition a full account of Ofsted outcomes since September 2015, with comments on
LA support, is given below. It shows 22 inspections of which 21 include graded judgements: 6
improved; 4 declined; 11 stayed the same – in a more challenging framework. Where there are
comments on LA support the majority are positive: 8 positive; 2 negative; 3 mixed.

Background
Since the previous Overview and Scrutiny Committee Report presented on 15 th
November 2016 there has only been one Ofsted inspection. This is the Ambleside
Centre (Nursery). This was a school short inspection report to check on the outstanding
provision. The report confirmed that the nursery continues to be outstanding and quite
understandable from the strengths recorded in the report issued on 21 st December
2016. A letter of congratulations is on its way from the Local Authority to the Chair of
Governors and Head teacher for the impressive delivery of high quality and effective
provision.
Ambleside Centre (Nursery)
School short inspection report
Inspection date: 23rd November 2016
Latest report: 21st December 2016

Continues to be Outstanding

See summary below and attachments
Ofsted judgements made over the last year – Annex attached

37

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a result
of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and subsequent
reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough
Council will be required to make budget reductions in excess of £20m over the
next three years and all Executive decisions should be made in this context.

How much
will it Cost/
(Save)
Current
Financial Year
(Year 1)
Next Financial
Year (Year 2)
Following
Financial Year
(Year 3)

Is there sufficient
funding
– if not quantify the
Shortfall

Revenue or Capital?

Not
applicable
Not
applicable
Not
applicable

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
None
Cross-Council Implications
n/a
List of Background Papers
None
Contact Alan Stubbersfield
Telephone No 0118 974 6055
Date 6th January 2017

Service Children’s Services
Email alan.stubbersfield@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No. 1

Ofsted judgements made over the last year
Date

School

23rd Sept
2015

St
Nicholas
CE
Primary
St
Dominic
Savio CE
Primary
School
Sonning
CE
Primary
School
Grazeley
Parochial
CE

14th Oct
2015

1st March
2016

1st March
2016

Report
type
S8 (short)

Overall
outcome
Good

Last

School
inspection
report (full)

Good

Requires
Improvement

S8

Good

Good

Both the local authority and school
supporting St Dominic Savio have
contributed very strongly to improving
leadership and management, and the
quality of teaching and learning.
No comment.

S8

Good

Good

No comment.

Good

38

Comment made on LA support
and intervention
No comment.

2nd March
2016

Primary
Crazies
Hill
Primary
School
Gorse
Ride
Infant
The
Forest
School

S8

Good

Good

No comment.

S8

Good

Good

No comment.

School
inspection
report

Requires
Improvement

NA

Earley St
Peter’s
CE
Primary
Southfield
School

School
inspection
report

Good

Requires
Improvement

Senior leaders and governors make
use of advisers from the local
authority to support key aspects of
school improvement. Monitoring and
review visits take place to affirm the
quality of teaching and the support
offered to newly qualified teachers. In
addition, close working relationships
with other local schools have led to
better teaching and leadership in a
range of subjects.
The local authority provides suitable,
and rightly reducing support. The
diocese is also helpful.

School
inspection
report

Inadequate

Good

11th May
2016

Farley Hill
Primary
School

School
inspection
report

Good

Requires
Improvement

17th May
2016

The
Coombes
Primary

School
inspection
report

Inadequate

Good

24th May
2016

Winnersh
Primary
School

School
inspection
report

Good

Requires
Improvement

7th June
2016

Oaklands
Infant

S8

Good

Good

Southfield School is a special school
for pupils with social, emotional or
mental health needs. The school has
been working with the local authority
to admit and cater for pupils with an
increasing level of need.
An increased level of support from
the local authority following the
previous inspection quickly reduced,
recognising the capacity to do what
was necessary existed within the
school. The Headteacher values the
ongoing challenge and support, but
this at an appropriate ‘light-touch’
level.
The local authority recognised that
the school needed significant support
and put in place an improvement
board to hold leaders and governors
to account. However, the local
authority has been too optimistic
about the impact of the recent
change to leadership.
The local authority, following the
previous inspection, stepped up its
support for school leaders. Officers
ensured a close eye was cast over all
aspects of school performance and
leaders were challenged to improve
the school. The local authority has
appropriately relaxed its scrutiny in
recent times, rightly transferring full
confidence to school leaders to
continue along the upward trajectory
that they have set so successfully.
No comment.

7th June

Gorse

School

Requires

Good

The local authority has provided

22nd
March
2016
11th Apr
2016

26th April
2016

26th Apr
2016

39

2016

Ride
Junior

inspection
report

Improvement

30th June
2016

Keep
Hatch
Primary

School
Inspection
report

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

12th July
2016

Westende
Junior
School
Southfield
School

S8

Good

Good

22nd July
2016

Oakbank

Good

Requires
Improvement

21st Sept
2016

All Saints
CE
Primary
School

School
inspection
report
School
inspection
report

Good

Requires
Improvement

22nd Sept
2016

Bearwood
Primary
School

School
inspection
report

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

5th Oct

Oaklands
Junior
School

Section 8

Good

Good

12th July
2016

S8

40

limited support for the school. A
review of pupil premium funding was
carried out in January 2015, but the
impact of this review has not had a
positive impact on increasing the
progress of disadvantaged pupils.
The school has received advice from
several organisations regarding the
areas to improve; this includes useful
support from the local authority.
No comment.
The local authority’s statement of
action is fit for purpose.
External support from the authority,
since April, has not provided the
school with the stability it has
needed. There have been too many
different interim principals. In some
cases this has been due to
unforeseen circumstances, but not in
all cases. The local authority
representative has visited the school
to work with interim principals on a
weekly basis but has not observed
the school at work. He has relied too
much on the views of others about
how pupils are behaving. In addition,
the local authority has not made it
clear enough to the governing body
what its role is…
No comment.

Since the previous inspection, the
Headteacher has worked
constructively with the local authority
and with a national leader of
education. This support was scaled
back last year in recognition of
substantial improvements made in
the school.
The support received from the local
authority in the past has not used
pupils’ progress information across
the school incisively enough to focus
leaders’ and governors’ attention on
strategic planning.
Working in partnership with the local
authority and other local schools you
have implemented new assessment
systems and teaching approaches.
This has enabled much smarter
monitoring of the progress that all
groups of pupils make and allowed
teachers to adapt their planning
where necessary.
You have worked closely with the
local authority and governors to
establish an accurate understanding

of the strengths and weaknesses of
the school.
Drawing on helpful support from the
local authority, you implemented a
new and improved system to assess
pupils’ progress and attainment in
line with the new national curriculum.

21st
Decembe
r 2016

Amblesid
e Centre

School
short
inspection
report:
Section 8

Outstanding

Outstanding

The leadership team has maintained
the outstanding quality of education
in the school since the last
inspection. You have ensured that
the high standards achieved at the
previous inspection have been
maintained during a period of
leadership change in the school.
Effective use is made of the local
community support officer to help
children to develop a strong
understanding of how to keep safe
on the way to and from school.
.

41

This page is intentionally left blank

Ofsted
Piccadilly Gate
Store Street
Manchester
M1 2WD

T 0300 123 4234
www.gov.uk/ofsted

13 December 2016
Mrs K Clifford
Acting
Headteacher
The Ambleside Centre
Ambleside Close
Woodley
Reading
Berkshire
RG5 4JJ
Dear Mrs Clifford
Short inspection of The Ambleside Centre
Following my visit to the school on 23 November 2016, I write on behalf of Her
Majesty’s Chief Inspector of Education, Children’s Services and Skills to report the
inspection findings. The visit was the first short inspection carried out since the
school was judged to be outstanding in December 2012.
This school continues to be outstanding.
The leadership team has maintained the outstanding quality of education in the
school since the last inspection. You have ensured that the high standards achieved
at the previous inspection have been maintained during a period of leadership
change in the school. The highly inclusive ethos of the school ensures that all
children are supported extremely well, whatever their needs may be. There is a very
strong emphasis on making sure that all children achieve their potential, whatever
their starting points. This is achieved through very positive relationships with
parents, providing a wide range of high-quality resources for children to access
during the school day and encouraging children to be independent in their learning.
There is a very special culture within the school, providing nurture and support for
each individual child, which reflects the school’s values to achieve the best outcomes
and well-being of children. As a result, children flourish and make outstanding
progress during their time in nursery.
The previous inspection identified that, as an outstanding nursery school, you should
develop partnership arrangements to share outstanding practice with the wider
community. This has been achieved. You are a member of a teaching school alliance
and you provide opportunities for staff from other schools to come and observe your
excellent early years practice, and also provide training and support for other early
years providers. The very high quality of provision in Meadows is recognised by the
local authority and other schools and settings within the community.

43

Parents are an integral part of the school. You and your staff take time to find out
what parents want for their child. The flexibility of your provision enables children to
thrive and flourish. Highly effective relationships with parents are evident. One
parent reflected: ‘My daughter had the most brilliant start due to the home visit.’ All
parents who completed the online Parent View questionnaire were, without
exception, fully supportive of the school. All would recommend the school to other
parents. All parents agree or strongly agree that all aspects of the school’s work
meet the needs of their child and that the school is well led and managed. Your staff
share information with parents on a daily basis. The learning journeys, which are
developed to show children’s achievements, are readily available for parents to look
at and take home overnight if they wish. One parent said: ‘I am proud of the reports
I had of my son’s development, all backed up by his learning record which we took
home to spend more time reading.’ Parents are actively encouraged to share in the
assessments of their child’s learning by adding contributions of their child’s
achievements at home.
You are not complacent. You and your staff are keen to ensure that the best
outcomes are achieved for all children. Involvement in the projects linked to the
early years pupil premium, boys’ writing and ‘early talk boost’ is a testament to the
school’s commitment to continually improve provision for children. As a result,
children with limited language on entry to the nursery make outstanding progress in
their language skills. The introduction of ‘writing on the move bags’ provides more
opportunities for children to write and make marks both inside and outside the
setting. Children are enthusiastic about writing and are eager to share their writing
with each other.
The school’s commitment to equality of opportunity means that all children achieve
exceptionally well. This includes pupils who have special educational needs and/or
disabilities and those in receipt of early years pupil premium funding. The progress of
these groups of pupils in particular was a line of enquiry during this inspection,
particularly since, at the time of the previous inspection, there was no funding for
disadvantaged children in the early years. Your own records of children’s progress
demonstrate the highly effective work being done by your staff to meet the learning
needs of all groups of children. Senior leaders meticulously track the progress of all
children. This enables teachers and key workers to identify any areas of children’s
learning that lag behind. Additional support and interventions are swiftly put in place
to enable children to catch up.
The new special educational needs coordinator is diligent in her recording of
children’s progress and development. She has introduced additional checks to
measure small steps in progress to demonstrate the necessity for additional funding
for some children with learning difficulties. The most able children are provided with
additional challenge to boost their learning, which enables them to make rapid
progress. You and your staff are fully aware of the learning needs of all children,
including the most able disadvantaged children, because time is taken daily in key
worker groups for each adult to spend time with their group of children and target
the specific needs of the children in their group. This ensures that their

44

responsibilities for the learning, progress and well-being of children are fulfilled
exceptionally well.
Safeguarding is effective.
The leadership team has ensured that all safeguarding arrangements are fit for
purpose and records are detailed and of high quality. Safeguarding is at the heart of
the school’s work. The well-being of children is a top priority. School leaders have
been involved in a project to support and improve children’s well-being. All adults
demonstrate a strong understanding of how to ensure that children are kept safe.
Daily checks on school equipment are designed to identify issues quickly. Key
workers carry out risk assessments in all areas of the garden and outdoor space.
Children are taught how to keep safe while using school equipment, for example
children using the trail set up in one of the indoor classrooms showed a good
understanding of how to land when they jumped off the humped bridges. Before
eating snacks, children know that they need to wash their hands. Adults regularly
check that they have done this when they arrive to enjoy fruit and a drink when the
snack bar is open. They are also supported to understand about keeping safe when
using the internet. Children learn how to keep safe in the community and when
crossing roads. Effective use is made of the local community support officer to help
children to develop a strong understanding of how to keep safe on the way to and
from school. The outside area is sometimes set up with roads and crossing points for
children to use, particularly with the bikes and trikes.
The governing body ensures that all staff are suitably trained at the correct level and
are provided with regular updates relating to safeguarding. All staff are required to
read part 1 of ‘Keeping children safe in education’. This ensures that staff are aware
that safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility. When concerns arise, school leaders
make effective use of other agencies to provide support and help to vulnerable
families.
Inspection findings
 Your relentless focus on inclusion and promoting children’s independence means
that all groups of children make exceptional progress. They are very well
prepared for learning in Reception classes when they leave the school.
 Every opportunity is used to check children’s understanding. Children enjoyed
crafting dough to make ‘cakes’ with cutters and tools. During this child-initiated
activity, adults checked children’s understanding of counting, reinforcing the
importance of saying one number name for each ‘cake’.
 You make effective use of additional funding for disadvantaged children. You
were partners in a project to develop staff skills and ensure that disadvantaged
children, including the most able disadvantaged children, made as much progress
as other children. This project was successful, particularly in increasing the
children’s use and understanding of language.
 Staff have a detailed knowledge and understanding of each child’s learning

45

needs. This is because they take time to get to know each child’s interests, skills
and ideas. Strong relationships underpin learning. Children happily select
resources to use and adults sensitively guide children’s thinking. During one
discussion, the adult checked children’s understanding of animals and their
features by using a display to focus children’s thoughts and ideas.
 Resources are organised extremely well. Children are able to select the activities
that interest them as well as working with other children in groups during adultled activities. Children were enthused and excited during an exploration of the
cornflour and water paste tray, enjoying the sensation of the liquid and solid
nature of the substance. The adult developed the children’s language very
effectively by devising suitable questions and using description to extend
children’s vocabulary. Children displayed high levels of sustained concentration,
which made a strong contribution to their progress during this high-quality
learning experience.
 Routines and systems are extremely well established. Children settle into learning
as soon as they arrive in nursery. They plan their learning, enjoy the activities
they plan to do and are able to reflect on their learning at the end of the session.
Adults take time to make sure children know what is happening throughout the
day. The effective balance of child-initiated activities, adult-led activities and
times when children learn together in their key worker groups provides a good
balance of learning opportunities. During the transitions from one part of the day
to another, familiar music is played to signal to children to begin to put away the
resources and prepare for a new focus. Children respond to this extremely well,
and independently return resources to their correct place and settle quickly to
the next activity.
 Children’s behaviour is exemplary. They are calm, self-assured and confident
learners. During one activity, a small group of children shared their ideas well,
took turns and helped each other to construct models successfully. Even when
children find sharing some resources difficult, adults gently intervene by
encouraging children to consider for themselves how any conflict can be
resolved. This supports children’s personal development extremely well. They
think carefully about what they can do and settle quickly again into the activity
and their learning.
 Children understand how to keep themselves safe. They know that they need to
wash their hands before eating any food and after using the toilet. They are
careful in their play and considerate to one another. Children access their snacks
and are able to use the bathrooms independently.
 Children are provided with opportunities to learn about their own culture and the
culture of other children in the school. Effective use of different religious
celebrations helps children to develop mutual respect for one another and an
understanding and tolerance of different faiths and beliefs. Children understand
right and wrong, and understand about making choices during their planning,
play and reviewing of their activities. They display high levels of engagement and
strong relationships with each other and with adults.
 Staff make detailed records of their observations of children’s learning, which are
used to devise next steps extremely well. Parents are very pleased to be able to

46

access their child’s learning journey readily. This information is used to make
assessments of children’s learning over time and track their progress. You are
considering revisions to the tools you use for assessment and recognise that a
sharper focus on recording of achievements linked to each area of learning and
age band will support staff and parents in determining children’s progress more
effectively day to day.
 Governors are very supportive of the school and know its strengths and the most
important areas for development very well. They provide challenge to school
leaders and check that planned actions have been achieved. Self-evaluation is
insightful and accurate. You and the governing body have devised a suitable plan
to support further improvements. Currently, the plan is not sharply focused on
the impact it is expected to have on improving outcomes for children. As a result,
it is not always clear whether the plan has achieved the expected improvements.
Next steps for the school
Leaders and those responsible for governance should ensure that:
 records of observations are refined to link more closely to levels of achievement
across the different areas of learning and enable staff and parents to recognise
children’s on-going progress
 the centre development plan is sharpened by including success measures for
planned actions which link to impact on children’s progress, so leaders can check
that the changes made enable children to achieve even more.
I am copying this letter to the chair of the governing body, the regional schools
commissioner and the director of children’s services for Wokingham. This letter will
be published on the Ofsted website.
Yours sincerely
Ann Henderson
Her Majesty’s Inspector
Information about the inspection
The lines of enquiry developed during the preparation for this inspection were:
 the effectiveness of school leaders in keeping children safe
 whether teaching continues to be outstanding
 whether outcomes are outstanding for all groups of children, particularly
children with special educational needs and/or disabilities and disadvantaged
children, including the most able disadvantaged children

47

 how ambitious leaders and managers, including governors, are, given the
change in leadership, and whether they have maintained the outstanding quality
of education since the previous inspection.
I met with you, the Meadows leader, the special educational needs coordinator,
staff, children, one governor and a representative from the local authority. I had a
telephone conversation with one governor. I jointly observed learning in all areas,
both inside and outside, with you. I looked at samples of children’s learning
journeys. I took into consideration the views of parents through the Parent View
questionnaire and considered the comments that had been placed on this website
by parents. I evaluated the accuracy of your self-evaluation as well as a range of
other documentation. I checked the effectiveness of the school’s safeguarding
arrangements.

48

49

Update Report on the
Multi-Academy Task and Finish
Group to the
Children's Overview and
Scrutiny Committee
Agenda Item 45.

Cllr. Charlotte Haitham Taylor

Membership of the Task and Finish
Group
•
•
•
•
50

•
•
•
•
•

Cllr.UllaKarin Clark
Cllr. Andy Croy
Cllr. Richard Dolinski
Cllr. Charlotte Haitham
Taylor (Chair)
Cllr. John Halsall
Cllr. John Kaiser
Cllr. Beth Rowland
Cllr. Alison Swaddle
Cllr. Shahid Younis

•
•
•
•

Officer support:
Alan Stubbersfield
Gill Walker
Guests:
Pat Kerton Head
Teacher - Hawthorns
Primary School
Julian Bushall Secondary Federation

Meetings to date:

51

• 12th October
• 9th November
• 28th November - Members attended
Borough-wide Head Teacher and Chair of
Governors meeting at St. Crispin’s
• 30th November
• 5th December

Agenda originally influenced by…

52

• ‘Educational Excellence Everywhere’ - White
Paper March 2016
• DfE - All LA schools to become academies by
2020
• Paper to Executive 28th July 2016 –
Establishing a Wokingham Multi-Academy
Trust
• Loss of Education Support Grant (ESG) 2017

Shift in agenda since T&F was
conceived…..

53

• New Prime Minister
• New Secretary of State for Education
• Momentum for all LA schools to convert to
academies by 2020 has been lost…
• New agenda – Grammar Schools…
• Education Service Grant (ESG) STILL GOES
• And failing schools still need Academy
sponsorship

Local Context:

54

• 9 of the borough’s 65 schools are
Academies
• Academies are converter or sponsored
• Sponsors include: GLF, Floreat, Bohunt,
CfBT, Northern House Trust

Education Services Grant

55

• Grant to LAs for their Education functions
Removed from 2017
• LAs’ statutory duties & powers remain
• Statutory minimum provision
• Putting together the funding
• Service area re-design

ESG coverage/statutory duties

56

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

School Improvement
Statutory & Regulatory
Education Social Workers (ESW)
Educational Psychology Service (EPS)
Asset Management
Premature retirement/redundancy
Central Support Services
Special Educational Needs (SEN), therapies, health
Monitoring of National Curriculum Assessment

WBC education funds 2016-17

57

• ESG funding
• WBC subsidy

£1,806k
£1,112k

• Total WBC Education spend

£2,918k

• POST- GRANT 2017-18
NEED TO FIND

£1,806K

•

Subject to change – recent government announcements made in December may alter some of these figures

The Bottom Line

58

• Lost ESG
• Proposals to Address Gap
going to Schools Forum 18th Jan
• Original WBC subsidy
• ....therefore
• Outstanding
£725k
• New WBC subsidy
•

£1,806k
£1,081k
£1,112k

£1,837k

Subject to change – recent government announcements made in December may alter some of these figures

Learning Partnership…

59

• Explored legal structures for setting up social
enterprises
• A not for profit or shareholding company
• Offering support services to trade
• % of work contacted by the Council
• Variety of different governance models and
schemes of delegation
• Took ESG information and Leaning Trust
proposals to meeting of Head Teachers and
Chairs of Governing Bodies - 28th Nov

Example of some basic principles :

60

• Membership available to all: maintained, academies,
church, free
• Subscription dependent upon Numbers on Role subscribers benefit from a discounted price for services
• A range of school support packages offered
• Charging structure developed by the trust partners
• WBC will contract statutory services from the trust
• Trading beyond WBC to enhance income
• Any profits reinvested into WBC subscribers

Learning Partnership membership...

61

• Elected Headteachers/Governors all
phases
• Council members
• Council Officers
• Co-optees

Possible functions might include:

62

•
•
•
•
•
•

School Improvement
Governor Support
NQTs
Moderation
EWS, SEN and EPS
Virtual School (Children in Care and Care
Leavers)
• Early Years

Learning Partnership Board Remit

63

• Agrees business plan – to include
priorities and future growth
• Considers new product development
• Reviews Company’s finances, business
development and risk register.
Each School/Governing Body retains
governance, budget , autonomy

Learning Partnership agrees traded and contract
services – examples might include:

64

Traded

Statutory Contract

Consultancy
Advice
Courses
Conferences
Bespoke training
Curriculum support
Governance

Contract with WBC to delivery statutory
duties to schools and settings
In an OFSTED category
Causing concern
Below floor
Requiring improvement
Coasting.

Hertsforlearning has 77% traded and 23% contract services.

Examples of Good Learning
Partnership models:

65

• Hertfordshire County Council in partnership
with schools has developed
HertsforLearning (HFL)– a shareholding,
profit making ‘schools company ‘ that
combines traded support services for
schools with contracted work from the LA.
Profits are shared between the 521
shareholding schools.

66

Buckinghamshire County Council in
partnership with schools has developed
BucksLearningTrust (BLT).
Their strap line is
“In Bucks, beyond Bucks, for Bucks.”
This is a company limited by guarantee with
a charitable status.
It works on membership fees dependent on
Numbers on Role with a clear charging
policy

Next steps for the T&F Group….

67

• Schools Forum 18th Jan – will schools agree
to top-slice Early Years funding and contribute
£15 per head of ESG (transferred to DSG) to
help meet funding gap that loss of grant
leaves?
• Consider different models and viability of
Education Services should the schools not
wish contribute via the DSG or form a
Learning Partnership

Next steps cont….

68

• Cont. to engage with schools – possible
YouTube video
• Send out Questionnaire to Head Teachers
and Chair of Governors about Learning
Partnership models
• Further develop financial and legal models
for Learning Partnership
• Explore benefits of establishing LA MAT

69

Questions?

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 46.
TITLE

Children’s Services Performance Indicators

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny
Committee on 17 January 2017

WARD

None Specific

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR

Judith Ramsden, Director of People Services

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
Children’s Services performance indicators underpin the council’s priorities and
principles to focus on every child reaching their potential and looking after the
vulnerable.

RECOMMENDATION
That the Children’s Service performance indicators be noted.

SUMMARY OF REPORT
The timing of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee means that the latest indicators
available for formal reporting this cycle are the Quarterly indicators reported at the end
of September 2016.

Background
A set of information on performance indicators is provided to the Corporate Leadership
Team and the Executive on a regular basis. The most recent report, providing
information for Children’s Services covering the quarter to September 2016, is provided
as Appendix A to this report.

Analysis of Issues
This quarter there are four indicators rated red for performance, three amber and two
green.
Red
1. % referrals in 16/17 which are repeat referrals within 12 months of a
previous referral to Children’s Social Care.
This indicator helps us to establish whether a case has been closed too quickly

71

resulting in a re-referral of a child or young person for further support. During
quarter 2, only one re-referred case raised discussion about the appropriateness
of the approach taken following the first referral. In this case, evidence supported
the initial approach being reasonable.
The number of re-referrals in each month of the quarter did not vary widely (July:
17; August: 21; September:18) however the low total number of referrals received
in August (52) resulted in a relatively high % of re-referrals being recorded for
that month (40.4%). Performance for September was 20% (18 re-referrals of 90
referrals) which is better than the target.
2. % Children who became subject of a Child Protection Plan (CPP) who are
subject to a CPP for a second or subsequent time within 24 months.
In quarter 2 a large family (four children) became subject to a Child Protection
Plan for a second time in circumstances which could not have been avoided.
3. % Care Proceedings completed in 15/16 within 26 weeks of application.
In quarter 2, four care proceedings were completed over the 26 week timescale
due to further assessment being required. The timetable was controlled by the
Court and not the Local Authority.
4. % Looked After Children living within 20 miles of Berkshire West.
Work is being undertaken to increase the recruitment of local foster carers and
out of area emergency placements are only used in exceptional circumstances if
there are no other options available locally. Almost all children who are in long
term placements out of borough have exceptional needs. We are actively
working with units to stabilise the children to reintegrate them to the local area as
soon as they are able and ensure it meets a child’s need.
Amber
1. % CP Visits due in the period which were on-time (within 10 days of the
previous visit).
Performance for this indicator is improved compared to Q1 and 91.4% of all visits
took place within 15 working days of the previous visit. Delays between 10 and
15 days mainly related to attempted unannounced visits where the family were
not at home. Visits are reviewed by Team and Service Managers weekly and
late reviews are scrutinised by managers with any concerns being escalated as
appropriate.
2. % Primary Schools with a Current Ofsted Rating of “Good” or better.
This indicator is unchanged from Q1. No inspection reports for primary schools
were released in Q2.
3. % Special Schools with a current Ofsted rating of “Good” or better.

72

This indicator is unchanged from Q1. No inspection reports for special schools
were released in Q2.
Green
1. % Secondary Schools with a current Ofsted rating of “Good” or better; and
2. % Children who attend a Wokingham school (Primary, Secondary or
Special) who are at a school with an Ofsted rating of “Good” or better.
Both indicators showed improvement in Q2 following the publication of the Ofsted
Inspection judgement for Oakbank School which was “Good” (previously
Requiring Improvement).

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a
result of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and
subsequent reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that
Wokingham Borough Council will be required to make budget reductions in
excess of £20m over the next three years and all Executive decisions should
be made in this context.

How much
will it Cost/
(Save)
Current
Financial Year
(Year 1)
Next Financial
Year (Year 2)
Following
Financial Year
(Year 3)

Is there sufficient
funding
– if not quantify the
Shortfall

Revenue or Capital?

Not
applicable
Not
applicable
Not
applicable

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
None
Cross-Council Implications
n/a
List of Background Papers
None
Service Children’s Services
Email Paul.Feven@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No. 1

Contact Paul Feven
Telephone No 0118 974 6427
Date 9 January 2017

73

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A
Extract of WBC Council Plan Performance Monitoring Report Q2 2016/17
Children’s Services Performance Indicators
Indicator

Target (plus target range
for RAG)

15/16
Actual

16/17
Qtr. 2
Actual

RAG

Direction
of Travel
(Better/
Worse/
No
change)

Strategic
Director /
Executive
Member

Commentary

% referrals in 16/17 which are
repeat referrals within 12
months of a previous referral to
Children’s Social Care

24% or Less

18.96%

32.9%
(Q1:
21.6%)

Red

Worse
(than Q1)

Judith
Ramsden/
Charlotte
Haitham
Taylor

Whilst this figure is over our target, only one
case raised discussion as to whether a
different approach would have been
appropriate on first referral, however there
is evidence to support the initial decision
being reasonable. None of the repeat
referrals led to Child Protection enquiries.
This is an indicator which helps us establish
if a case has been closed too quickly. It is
not necessarily an indication of a failure in
the support provided.

Green: 24% or less
Amber: 24.1% to 26%
Red: Over 26%

75

There were 17 (of 69) repeat referrals in July
(24.6%), 21 (of 52) in August (40.4%) and 18
(of 90) in September (20%).
The percentage was over target in August
due to the lower number of total referrals
received, which is the usual trend in the
summer holidays.
Performance for September was 20%, which
is better than the target.
Page 1 of 6

Children’s Services Overview & Scrutiny Committee, 17 January 2017

Indicator

Target (plus target range
for RAG)

15/16
Actual

16/17
Qtr. 2
Actual

RAG

Direction
of Travel
(Better/
Worse/
No
change)

Strategic
Director /
Executive
Member

Commentary

% Children who became subject
of a Child Protection Plan (CPP)
who are subject to a CPP for a
second or subsequent time
within 24 months.

Less than 8%

7%

33%

Red

Worse
(than Q1)

Green: Less than 8%
Amber: 8 – 10%
Red: Over 10%

Number of
Children: 8
of 114

Number
of
Children:
6 of 18

Judith
Ramsden/
Charlotte
Haitham
Taylor

A large family (four children) became subject
to a Child Protection Plan for a second time
in quarter 2. This particular family had
intervention up to the limit of the local
authority’s legal powers and the subsequent
Child Protection Plan could not have been
avoided.

Red

Worse
(than Q1)

Judith
Ramsden/
Charlotte
Haitham
Taylor

4 Care Proceedings were completed over the
26 week timescale in the quarter due to
further assessment being required. This
timetable was controlled by the Court and
not the Local Authority.

Red

Worse
(than Q1)

Judith
Ramsden/
Charlotte
Haitham
Taylor

Work is being undertaken to increase the
recruitment of local foster carers and out of
area emergency placements are only used in
exceptional circumstances if there are no
other options available locally. Almost all
children who are in long term placements
out of borough have exceptional needs. We
are actively working with units to stablise
the children to reintegrate them to the local
area as soon as they are able and ensure it
meets a child’s need.

% Care Proceedings completed
in 15/16 within 26 weeks of
application

76
% Looked After Children living
within 20 miles of Berkshire
West

60%

52.9%

Green: 60%
Amber: Between 47% and
59.9%
Red: Less than 47%
70%

63.9%

Green: 70% or more
Amber: 64-69.9%
Red: Less than 64%

(Q1:
5.6%)
33%
(Q1: 60%)

63%
(Q1:
67.1%)

Page 2 of 6

Children’s Services Overview & Scrutiny Committee, 17 January 2017

Target (plus target range
for RAG)

15/16
Actual

% of children who wait less than
16 months between entering
care and moving in with their
adoptive family – 3 year rolling
average

55%

Proportion of adoptive families
who are matched to a child who
waited more than 3 months
from approval to being matched
to a child

52%

% CP Visits due in the period
which were on-time (within 10
days of the previous visit).

82%
Green: 82% or more
Amber: 78% to 81.9%
Red: Less than 78%

77

Indicator

Green: 55% or above
Amber: 50% to 54.9%
Red: Less than 50%

Green: 52% or less
Amber: 52% to 60%
Red: More than 60%

16/17
Qtr. 2
Actual

RAG

Direction
of Travel
(Better/
Worse/
No
change)

Strategic
Director /
Executive
Member

Commentary

2012 – 2015
rolling three
year
average:
40%

Judith
Ramsden/
Charlotte
Haitham
Taylor

Not yet
available

Judith
Ramsden/
Charlotte
Haitham
Taylor

The next data release is expected in
December 2016. However, the DfE are
reviewing the frequency of data releases.
We are seeking alternate sources of
information to present in this report in Q3
should the December DfE release be
discontinued.
The next data release is expected in
December 2016. However, the DfE are
reviewing the frequency of data releases.
We are seeking alternate sources of
information to present in this report in Q3
should the December DfE release be
discontinued.

14/15
Actual: 83%

80%

79.1%
(Q1:
75.9%)

Amber

Better
(than Q1)

Judith
Ramsden/
Charlotte
Haitham
Taylor

Page 3 of 6

Children’s Services Overview & Scrutiny Committee, 17 January 2017

91.4% of all visits took place within 15 working
days, delays between 10 and 15 days mainly
relating to attempted unannounced visits taking
place where the family were not at home. Visits
are reviewed by Team and Service Managers
weekly and late reviews are scrutinised by
managers with any concerns being escalated as
appropriate.

Target (plus target range
for RAG)

15/16
Actual

16/17
Qtr. 2
Actual

RAG

Direction
of Travel
(Better/
Worse/
No
change)

Strategic
Director /
Executive
Member

Commentary

% Primary Schools with a
Current Ofsted Rating of
“Good” or better.

Improvement

86% (as of 31
March 2016)

88%
(Q1:88%)

Amber

No
change

Judith
Ramsden/
Charlotte
Haitham
Taylor

% Secondary Schools with a
current Ofsted rating of “good”
or better.

Improvement

89% (as of 31
March 2016)

89%
(Q1: 78%)

Green

Better

Judith
Ramsden/
Charlotte
Haitham
Taylor

No change from Q1.
No school inspection outcomes released in
Q2.
Primary Schools inspected and outcomes
published in the first quarter:
Coombes – Inadequate, previously Good
Gorse Ride Junior - RI, previously Good
Early St Peters – Good, previously RI
Farley Hill - Good, previously RI
Winnersh - Good, previously RI
Windmill – Good, inspected for the first
time.
Improvement from Q1
One school inspection outcome was released
in Q2.
Oakbank School - Good, previously RI

78

Indicator

Green: Improvement or
100%
Amber: No Change
compared to previous
quarter
Red: Deterioration
compared to previous
quarter

Green: Improvement or
100%
Amber: No Change
compared to previous
quarter
Red: Deterioration

Page 4 of 6

Children’s Services Overview & Scrutiny Committee, 17 January 2017

Indicator

Target (plus target range
for RAG)

15/16
Actual

16/17
Qtr. 2
Actual

RAG

Direction
of Travel
(Better/
Worse/
No
change)

Strategic
Director /
Executive
Member

Commentary

% Special Schools with a current
Ofsted rating of “good” or
better.

Improvement
Green: Improvement or
100%
Amber: No Change
compared to previous
quarter
Red: Deterioration
compared to previous
quarter
Improvement

100% (as of
31 March
2016)

66%
(Q1:66%)

Amber

No
change

Judith
Ramsden/
Charlotte
Haitham
Taylor

No change from Q1.
No school inspection outcomes released in
Q2.
Special schools inspected and outcomes
published in the first quarter:
Southfield - Inadequate, previously Good

90% (as of 31
March 2016)

87%
(Q1:86%)

Green

Better

Judith
Ramsden/
Charlotte
Haitham
Taylor

Improvement from Q1.
One school inspection outcome was released
in Q2.

79

% Children who attend a
Wokingham school (Primary,
Secondary or Special) who are
at a school with an Ofsted
rating of “good” or better.

Green: Improvement or
100%
Amber: No Change
compared to previous
quarter
Red: Deterioration
compared to previous
quarter

Page 5 of 6

Children’s Services Overview & Scrutiny Committee, 17 January 2017

Oakbank School – Good, previously RI

Target (plus target range
for RAG)

15/16
Actual

16/17
Qtr. 2
Actual

RAG

Direction
of Travel
(Better/
Worse/
No
change)

Strategic
Director /
Executive
Member

Commentary

Number of schools causing
concern

5 schools

5 schools

8 schools
(Q1: 8
schools)

N/A

No
change

Judith
Ramsden/
Charlotte
Haitham
Taylor

At the end of Q2 2016-17 we were working
with 8 schools either because they had a
“Requires Improvement” Ofsted judgement
(six schools) or because they were in special
measures (two schools). All are monitored
at least termly.

Number of schools becoming
academies

10 schools (expectation at
end of 15/16)

1 school

0 schools
(Q1: 0
schools)

N/A

N/A

Judith
Ramsden/
Charlotte
Haitham
Taylor

This indicator was introduced because of the
expected increase in the rate of academy
conversions following the publication of the
White Paper “Educational Excellence
Everywhere” in March 2016 which set a
target that all schools convert to academies
by 2022. Since then, however, the
government proposals for academy
conversion have changed. In Q2 no schools
were changing to academies. It is expected
that the 2 schools in special measures will
change to academies in the next two terms.

80

Indicator

Page 6 of 6

Children’s Services Overview & Scrutiny Committee, 17 January 2017

Agenda Item 47.
TITLE

Pathways to Learning: Advice and Guidance for
Young People in Wokingham

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Children’s
Services
Overview
Committee – 17 January 2017

WARD

Non-specific

DIRECTOR

Judith Ramsden, Director of People Services

and

Scrutiny

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
Effective support for young people’s engagement with Education, Employment or
Training.

RECOMMENDATION
Members to question the content of the reports and to make recommendations.

SUMMARY OF REPORT
The report sets out processes for providing advice and guidance for career paths for
young people in Wokingham, looking at what is on offer in schools for their pupils, and
at the Wokingham Borough Council offer which operates in parallel.
Provision in Schools
Careers Education, Information, Advice and Guidance (CEIAG) at Wokingham Schools is an
important part of school life with all students receiving this as part of their learning. Schools
are committed to providing the appropriate activities and experiences to enable students to
make successful transitions from Key Stage 3 to 4, 5 and further education, training
programmes, apprenticeships or work. Related aims include support for choices and
transitions, raising aspirations and personal skills, and providing information and sources of
specialist advice.
Definitions
Schools’ statutory duty is to “secure that all registered pupils at the school are provided with
independent careers advice for every pupil during the relevant phase of their education”
Careers Education (CE) is a programme of learning activities designed to enable students to
gain the skills, knowledge and understanding to make effective transitions throughout their
careers. It comprises self-development, career exploration and career management. WorkRelated Learning (WRL) helps students to prepare for the world of work. It comprises:
 Learning about work (what the workplace is like)

81




Learning for work (gaining employability skills)
Learning through work (Using work as a vehicle for other subjects and qualifications)

Key issues:







Every child should leave school prepared for life in modern Britain. High quality,
independent careers guidance is crucial in helping pupils emerge from school more
fully rounded and ready for the world of work. Young people want and need to be
well-informed when making subject and career decisions.
Providing improved careers services will ensure that young people can select
educational routes that are suitable for them. This will help young people to develop
skills employers want to match the needs of our economy.
The duty on schools, to secure independent careers guidance for all year 8-13 pupils,
was intended to expand advice and guidance for young people so they are inspired
and motivated to fulfil their potential. Schools should help every pupil develop high
aspirations and consider a broad and ambitious range of careers.
Schools should have a strategy for the careers guidance they provide to young
people. The strategy should be embedded within a clear framework linked to
outcomes for pupils and meet the needs of all pupils.

Provision
Schools make use of links with education, businesses, networks and the public and
voluntary sectors to provide students with opportunities for:








understanding the basic skills required by employers from their employees and what
is ‘work ready‘.
developing personal business and enterprise skills through activities embedded in
departments’ schemes of work
encouraging personal business and enterprise skills through non-curricular activities
available such as after school clubs, Duke of Edinburgh, World Challenge, Interact
club, Bar Mock trial etc.
work-related learning and/or work experience eg where related to their academic
courses
career case studies, fairs and events
mentoring (to be mentored or mentor others)
leadership opportunities

Students are made aware of relevant web based and telephone advice services including
the National Careers Service and Adviza Berkshire. Schools also bring in expertise as part
of their careers programmes to ensure independent provision. This may include
 invitations to local colleges and HE institutions
 invitations to individuals or organisations to undertake careers talks and business
activities
 buying in independent expertise for ‘face to face’ individual student careers meetings
and training events
Schools maintain destinations measures at KS4 and KS5 as required by the Department for
Education. Measures identify the percentage of students progressing to further learning (in a
school, further education or 6th form college, apprenticeship or higher education institution)
as well as destinations covering employment in the two terms starting October and ending in
March the year after the student leaves school.

82

Parents
Parents are a key influence on their children’s choice of career, and schools aim to assist
parents to:
 be aware of the resources available to help with Careers Education and Work
Related Learning
 understand the options available to their children
 be aware of career fairs and other events which they can attend
.
Wokingham Borough Council
The Borough Council has a strong and supportive offer for all young people in Wokingham
aged 16-18 (up to 24 for those with identified Special Educational Needs) to participate in
education, employment or training. Currently the percentage of young people who are Not in
Education Employment or Training (NEET) within Wokingham is 1.7% compared to the
national figure of 3.0% and those that are unknown are 10.5% compared to the national not
known of 12%.
Years 12 - 13

Wokingham

National

South East

% NEET

1.7

3.0

3.6

% Unknown

10.5

12.0

10.3

Total

12.2

15.0

13.9

The achievement of these figures is linked to the Borough’s support through Elevate Me and
the commissioning of advice services. Elevate was created for young people in Wokingham
to access help, advice and support on careers guidance, employment, education and
apprenticeships. WBC has also commissioned support from Adviza. Through Elevate and
Adviza WBC has ensured that statutory responsibilities for the Participation of Young People
in Education Employment or Training are met.
The Wokingham offer for young people is undertaken using a variety of methods including:




Web based Information Advice and Guidance services
Face to face e guidance and support for 16-18 year old young people
Tracking of all young people resident in Wokingham regardless of where they are
educated or participating in Education, Advice and guidance. This data is shared with
the Department for Education as per statutory guidance.

Under Section 68 of the Education and Skills Act 2008 WBC ensures that young persons
and relevant young adults for whom it is responsible have access to such services as it
considers appropriate to encourage, enable or assist the effective participation of those
persons in education or training. This is met by services offering face to face guidance &
support for those who are at risk of becoming, or are NEET, including Intensive support
allocated to WBC vulnerable groups (Looked after Children, care leavers and young

83

offenders). The current provision provides intensive support into employment and training for
all NEET young people aged 16 to 24. This is done through collaborative working with
internal WBC services such as Here4U and Youth Offending Service (YOS) teams as well
as Adviza and Elevate and ensures that young people are intensively supported and tracked
to encourage employability/education activity.
Over the last 18 months Wokingham has strengthened its offer to the young people of
Wokingham by using Elevate as a hub that has a strong offer of support for all young people.
Elevate has achieved the following over the last 18 months:













Provided intensive support for all young people in Wokingham into employment and
training if they are Not in Education Training or Employment at the age of 16 to 24.
Worked directly with internal WBC services such as Social Care, Here4U and YOS
teams to ensure that the most vulnerable are supported.
Negotiated and monitored employment skills plans with developers and suppliers to
Wokingham Borough Council
Brokered young people into work experience and apprenticeship opportunities
developed through local businesses.
Introduced the Wokingham Borough Council Supported Apprenticeship Service. This
has been effective through the support offered by WBC internal Human Resources.
They have attended business partner meetings to identify friendship posts and broker
vulnerable people into these positions as well as provide additional support to both
the manager and the new apprentice to ensure that the appointment is sustainable.
A monthly support group for all WBC apprenticeships has been set up and is active.
Maintained a strong network involving partners, such as the National Careers Service
who deliver support to adults of all ages through the Elevate Wokingham hub and
other organisations such as JCP, Catch 22, Princes Trust and JAC to provide
additional resource and opportunity for young people. This includes local Further
Education colleges and training providers.
Hosted and arranged the annual Careers Fairs. This annual event is run on behalf of
the Federation of secondary school head teachers. The careers fair is an anual
event attended by nearly all the secondary schools in Wokingham Borough.
Generally between 40 and 60 exhibitors attend and we have been able to cover costs
through sponsorship and contributions.
Job Club – run every Tuesday afternoon at the hub
There has been development of Project work which has created opportunities for
young people to be part of and create a local business: this includes Dinton Pastures,
Create and Elevate and Shuters café.

In 2017 there is a proposal to support the ongoing delivery of skills and employment
work. The proposal is to ensure integrated the delivery of all NEET prevention work, with
the vision that the NEET reduction service is aligned with the existing Elevate provision
and the adult education service to create a more efficient and better aligned service
which supports the transition for young people into adulthood.

84

Agenda Item 48.
TITLE

Recruitment and Retention of Social Worker Staff

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Children’s Services Overview and Scrutiny
Committee on 17 January 2017

WARD

None Specific

STRATEGIC DIRECTOR

Judith Ramsden, Director of People Services

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
A permanent and stable children’s social care workforce is important for delivering
improved and good quality services to children and their families.
Local Authorities have to rely upon mixed economies which include interim and agency
staff to provide flexibility and maintain service coverage but the degree of interim staff
needs to be managed in order to promote stability.

RECOMMENDATION
For overview and scrutiny to note the report and the action taken by children’s social
care and HR to manage the workforce and recruit staff permanently.

SUMMARY OF REPORT
This report outlines a snap shot of the data regarding staff turnover and the
management of the workforce.
It outlines the actions taken by senior leaders to improve the recruitment and retention
of staff against a challenging national climate of a shortage of qualified social workers
and managers, increasing risk and responsibility placed upon these professionals and a
national picture of salary and benefits lagging behind other professions.
It is highly important to note that despite challenges in the recruitment and retention that
a good level of quality services continues to be delivered to children and their families in
Wokingham.

Background
Wokingham is one of the smallest unitary authorities in England. The Children’s Social
Care department had 66 permanent members of staff who are social work qualified and
HCPC registered as of November 2016.
The October 2016 snap shot for returns on staff data demonstrated:


16% of social worker have been at Wokingham Borough Council (WBC) in
excess of 5 years and this indicates that the staff are increasingly experienced in

85

1

comparison to year 2015/16.;


The vacancy rate is 26% which is a slight deterioration from last year and at the
October snap shot we held an additional two posts vacant which had not been
filled by agency or permanent staff.



The turnover rate is 26% in comparison to 30% last year and this is a small
improvement on the figures for 2015.



Staff absence from work has also improved from a rate of 3.0 in 2015 to 2.5 and
absence rate is linked to a few staff with serious illness. There is evidence that
social workers are not absent from work in any form which should give cause for
concern for the department’s systemic wellbeing. The agency rate in 2015 was
23.0 compared to 16.0 which is an improvement with less agency staff being
employed.

The turnover of staff in the summer has been impacted by the need to address poor
performance and HR issues which have led to staff exiting WBC. There has also been
the departure of 4 social workers who have moved on for personal family reasons or
promotion. A level of turnover is inevitable in any local authority social work department
with research demonstrating that staff across the profession can tolerate between 3 and
7 years frontline practice before the need to move posts.
The small numbers in the workforce will cause percentage calculations to swing in a
way that is not useful to senior leaders in understanding the challenges of workforce
development. In reality we need to recruit to approximately 10 vacancies.
The Authority finds itself in a challenging situation for social work recruitment, set
against a national shortage of qualified social work staff and located within the area
between the London Boroughs and amongst the six Berkshire unitary authorities all in
close proximity. The general shortage of professionals means that social workers are
actively sought by authorities and social workers have choices between the authorities.
This means that movement for the purposes of professional or personal change, to seek
increased pay and benefits or to provide a break in service, is more highly possible in
this area.
The local authorities are also competitive needing to attract the available candidates and
this leads to a constant increased revision of pay scales and retention schemes by
each unitary in order to attract the pool of social workers living within Berkshire and
commutable distances.
Wokingham has a small workforce. The monitoring of vacancies and reasons for
turnover are overseen through reporting by HR and the principal social worker. The
figures for 2016/17 for social work turnover are 26.0 reduced from 30.0 but this remains
indicative of increased workforce turnover in comparison to the national average of 16.0.
Wokingham Children’s Services department have refreshed and reviewed the Retention
and Recruitment Strategy to continue to manage the workforce issues.

86

2

Recruitment and Retention: Methods and Approaches
Social Work Campaigns
Wokingham has a lot to offer as an authority in which to practice and develop as a
professional social worker. The department is on a trajectory to ‘Good’ having been
inspected a year ago. This is an important feature which shows practitioners that
Wokingham is a stable and safe place to work. The work load is balanced and
appropriate and the training opportunities are substantial through the Innovation
Programme and the Practice Framework.
With this in mind and the need to drive towards a more permanent stable workforce, a
new social work advertising campaign is being development in partnership with Jobs Go
Public. A microsite has been developed and the campaign is due to go live early
January 2017.
There are eight social work vacancies across the teams, one Assistant team Manager
Post, two Team Managers posts and a Service Manager post. The campaign aims at
targeting specific areas for social work recruitment including surrounding authorities of
Hampshire, Surrey and London Boroughs. For hard to recruit posts such as
management roles, we are using the smart search process which is effectively head
hunting of suitable candidates.
The campaign is created with a message that is positive, highlighting the significant
benefit to working in Wokingham. The current benefits are outlined in the refreshed
recruitment and retention strategy and include proposals for retention bonuses for staff
at all front line operational levels.
The approach of succession planning and growing staff has been developed throughout
local authorities and Wokingham is no exception. In order to achieve this there are a
number of avenues, such as;




use of the ‘Step Up’ programme in partnership with Winchester University,
a strong ASYE programme following recruitment of newly qualified social workers
Sponsorship of existing unqualified staff through the social work degree in
exchange for a commitment to post qualification employment.

A partnership has been developed between Wokingham and the University of
Winchester. There is collaboration with other southeast authorities surrounding the
university. In the Berkshire area most authorities are in the University of Buckingham
partnership.
Each year Wokingham offers a number of student placements for step up. In 2015/16
we offered three placements, of which two were taken up. The experiences of the step
up students indicate that the offer provided by Wokingham Borough Council as an
employer and learning environment is a positive one. The step up programme is also a
valuable source of recruitment. The programme trains students who have already
completed a first degree. Therefore the candidates are usually of a strong academic
ability and often with increased maturity.

87

3

It is proposed that Wokingham increases the offer of step up places to five per year from
2018 as a trial. The advantage of this is that we can go on to train and then offer
employment to ‘step up’s’ as newly qualified staff to our vacancies. In November 2016 a
conversation with Hampshire, as part of the bid to continue the step programme, has
agreed to aim for four step students in the interim.
There have been two employees sponsored on the Open University programme in
2015/16. An in house sponsored member of staff has just finished the programme and is
now an ASYE in a front line team with a seamless return into work. Two further staff
should graduate in 2019, and a further staff member is being interviewed by the OU for
a start in January 2017.
There is a cost of £12000 for each sponsorship. However Wokingham continues to
receive the benefit of the candidate’s employment between placements, and their work
as student within our own social work teams. The use of this approach has to be highly
selective due to the costs.
A further option which is being explored is the potential for supporting staff through a
Master degree programme, which is a two year course and takes advantage of prior
degree learning.
Succession Planning for Existing Staff
Through the Innovation programme with the DFE, Wokingham is to be involved for
phase two of the programme. It is hoped that formal notification of this from the DFE will
occur in January 2017.
Within this implementation of sign of safety and the Practice Framework, we are
committed to a training and development programme for our Managers and Practice
Leaders. This includes specific and bespoke adult learning to develop competence in
delivering, modelling and leading staff through the Practice Framework.
A scoping exercise is being undertaken with the Principal Social Worker (PSW) to look
at aspiring manager and manager training in leadership and management qualifications.
For the tasks faced by senior managers in a modern children’s services department, the
ability to think strategically and to manage projects, especially those which involve multi
agency or departmental tasks, indicates that project and programme management
qualifications and skills are necessary in preparing middle managers for the 21 st Century
Council Model. The exact requirements and programme are not yet defined but a
decision will be forthcoming in early 2017.
The purpose of succession planning and career pathways is a necessary method of
developing our workforce into the next generation of managers. It promotes stability and
assists with developing a culture within the department of staff trained in the vision and
goals of the organisation.
In addition we provide bespoke return to social work training for those who have taken a
career break and there are plans to consider offering a 12 week course to potential staff
who have not yet applied for a permanent post. This idea is in its infancy and needs

88

4

further development.
Conclusion
Wokingham is a small authority and requires a mixed economy to ensure recruitment is
achieved from a number of sources:







Advertising and campaigns for qualified social workers focused in specific areas.
Use of smart search for key posts such as middle managers
Recruitment by offering employment to a proportion of step up students with the
overall step up placements increased to five.
Sponsorship to be offered using a strict selection process.
Further exploration of the use of a Master’s degree route.
Succession planning for staff at all levels to ensure a clear career pathway and
additional technical training such as programme management and leadership
skills are available in order to grow our own sustainable workforce.

The pay and benefits will need constant revision. The once attractive security and
benefits of pension and absence leave is no longer attractive to staff as the rates of pay
that can be earned through agency work far outstrips these benefits, leaving agency
workers not only paid on a better hourly rate, but able to buy personal pension and
health cover and still earn a higher salary. Whilst there is a national shortage of social
workers there will always be the need for agency workers and this will always challenge
the ability to recruit a permanent workforce.
The senior leadership team are actively managing these challenges and continue to
look at creative ways to attract staff to work and stay in Wokingham.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe financial challenges over the coming years as a
result of the austerity measures implemented by the Government and
subsequent reductions to public sector funding. It is estimated that
Wokingham Borough Council will be required to make budget reductions in
excess of £20m over the next three years and all Executive decisions should
be made in this context.

How much
will it Cost/
(Save)
Current
Financial Year
(Year 1)
Next Financial
Year (Year 2)

Is there sufficient
funding
– if not quantify the
Shortfall

Revenue or Capital?

Not
applicable
Not
applicable

89

5

Following
Financial Year
(Year 3)

Not
applicable

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
None
Cross-Council Implications
n/a
List of Background Papers
None
Contact Lisa Humphreys
Telephone No 0118 974 6055
Date 28th December 2016

Service Children’s Services
Email
Judith.ramsden@wokingham.gov.uk
Version No. 1

90

6

CHILDREN’S SERVICES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
2017 WORK PROGRAMME

91

ITEM

PURPOSE OF REPORT

21 March

Practice framework
of Children’s
Services Update
Children’s Services
Performance
Indicators



School
Performance
Indicators and
Ofsted reports,
School
Improvement








To understand the impact of the new Council
structure for Children’s Services.
To review the Local Authority sufficiency.
To receive an update and monitor Children’s
Services performance measured by local
indicators

To receive information on schools’
performance, and to review recent Ofsted
Reports
Narrowing the gap – progress report on
schools including the data from 2015/2016
academic year

REASON FOR
CONSIDERATION

RESPONSIBLE
OFFICER /
CONTACT
OFFICER

The Committee to
assess and monitor
the framework
Standing item to
enable the
Committee to
assess performance
and identify areas of
concern
Standing item to
enable the
Committee to
assess performance
and identify areas of
concern

Children’s
Services team/
Judith Ramsden
Children’s
Services
Performance &
Information
Team
Head of
Learning &
Achievement/
Alan
Stubbersfield

Agenda Item 49.

DATE OF
MEETING

DATE OF
MEETING

ITEM

Children’s Services
O and S Committee
Forward
Programme

PURPOSE OF REPORT



To consider the forward programme of the
Committee

The following items to be discussed in May 2017:
 CPB Annual report
 Wokingham Safeguarding Children’s Board Annual report

REASON FOR
CONSIDERATION

Standing item

RESPONSIBLE
OFFICER /
CONTACT
OFFICER
Democratic
Services

92

